
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 5 December 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

Tuesday, 13 December 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 

 
 

 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

   
2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 

Minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 2022. 
(Pages 3 - 10) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

   

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 Items for recommendation to Council 
 

4.   Council Tax Base 2023/24 
To recommend the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2023/24. 

(Pages 11 - 18) 

   
5.   Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

This report reviews the Council’s Localised Council Tax Support Scheme in 

advance of the 2023/24 financial year, as well as proposals made in relation to 

the discount for care leavers, discount for Special Constables and 

Discretionary Hardship Fund. 

(Pages 19 - 31) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
6.   Theatre Roof Replacement Works Stamford Arts Centre 

This report sets out the procurement process that has been undertaken in 

respect of the roofing repairs at Stamford Arts Centre. 

(Pages 33 - 37) 

   
7.   Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities 

This report is for the contract awards for: 

• A Choice Based Lettings system 

• Residential windows and doors replacement 

• Energy efficiency measures should the SHDF bid be successful 

(Pages 39 - 77) 

   
8.   The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at 

first licence) 
At their meeting of 12 July 2022 Cabinet resolved to further consider the 

vehicle age requirements for first licensing of hackney carriage and private hire 

vehicles. 

(Pages 79 - 88) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
9.   Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge - Progress 

Review 
To formally receive the Local Government Association’s progress report 

following a six-month review that took place in September 2022 further to the 

Council’s involvement in the Corporate Peer Challenge and consider adoption 

of an action plan to implement further improvements to service delivery. 

(Pages 89 - 106) 

   
 Items for information 

 
10.   Finance Update Report: April - October 2022 

To inform Cabinet of the Council’s forecast 2022/23 financial position as at the 

end of October 2022. The report covers the following areas:                                       

 

• General Fund Revenue Budget 

• Housing Revenue Account Budget 

• Capital Programmes – General Fund and Housing Revenue 

Account 

(Pages 107 - 133) 

   
11.   Cabinet's Forward Plan 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 
(Pages 135 - 141) 

   



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 8 November 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate 
Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 
Officers 

 

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 
Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive (Monitoring Officer) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 
Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 
Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure 
Chris Prime, Communications Manager 
Debbie Roberts, Head of Corporate Projects, Policy, and Performance 
James Welbourn, Democratic Services Manager 
Patrick Astill, Communications Officer 
Jordan Brooks, IT Help Desk Engineer 
Bethany Goodman, Leisure Officer 
Heather Green, Licensing Team Leader 
Jamie Moses, IT Support Lead 
 
49. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Annie Mason and Councillor 
Nick Robins. 
 
The Leader of the Council welcomed everyone to this meeting of Cabinet and took 
the opportunity to thank the South Kesteven District Council officers who were 
involved in the by-elections being held on 10 November in Grantham St.Wulfram’s 
and Bourne East wards. 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

50. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 October 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 
 
51. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 
52. Statement of Licensing Principles 2023-2026 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The Council was required to review its Gambling Statement of Principles every 3 
years. This report presented the draft Gambling Statement of Principles 2023-2026 
for comment alongside the feedback from the required consultation. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Notes the proposed updates to the Gambling Statement of Principles and 
consultation feedback.   
 
2. Recommends, with the amended text at Appendix One of the report, that the 
revised South Kesteven District Council Gambling Statement of Principles 2023-2026 
is suitable to be presented to Full Council for adoption. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Failure to undertake a review of the Statement would have meant that this aspect of 
the Licensing Authority’s operation was not compliant with legislative requirements.    
 
Reason for decision 
 
The development of the revised Statement had been overseen by the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 11 October, with the 
involvement of the Licensing Committee.  Public consultation had demonstrated 
support for the revised document. This decision would ensure that that the Council 
met its obligations under Section 349 of the Gambling Act to review the Statement 
every 3 years. 
 
The Council issued a range of permits to authorise gambling facilities across the 
district. The current Statement of Principles dated from 2020; the Gambling Act 
required local authorities to prepare an updated Statement of Principles every three 
years. 
 
The Statement set out the general approach that the Council would take with regard 
to its regulatory role within the Gambling Act. This included adhering to the three 
objectives of the Gambling Act, which were: 

4



 

 

1. preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime 

2. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

3. protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

 
Updates had been made to the Statement in order to reflect the current local profile 
and guidance whilst ensuring it was fit for purpose. The draft Statement, with 
revisions was included as Appendix One to the report. Appendix Two to the report 
outlined the changes to the Statement in more detail. 
 
A statutory consultation took place from August 2022 and garnered thirteen 
responses. The feedback from this consultation was included at Appendix Four. 
 
The agreed amendment to the draft statement was as follows: 
 
‘Social responsibility code provisions - Provisions describing arrangements which 
should be made by persons providing facilities for gambling for the purpose of -   

(a) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.   
(b) protecting children and other vulnerable persons form being harmed or 
exploited by gambling; and; 
(c) making assistance available to persons who are or may be affected by 
problems related to gambling.  

Compliance with these is a condition of operator licences; therefore, any breach of 
them by a licensed operator may lead the Commission to review the operator’s 
licence with a view to suspension, revocation or the imposition of a financial penalty 
and would also expose the operator to the risk of prosecution.’ 
 
Members noted that it was important that public and businesses within the district 
were aware of the Gambling Statement of Principles, particularly since gambling was 
an addiction that had the ability to affect people from all backgrounds in the 
community. 
 
53. Housing Compensation Policy 
 
Purpose of report 
 
In common with all social landlords, the Council was obliged in some circumstances 
to make payments to tenants or leaseholders to compensate them for loss or 
inconvenience. The Housing Compensation Policy was intended to provide clarity of 
the circumstances, both discretionary and statutory, where it was appropriate that 
such payments be made. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Notes the content of the report.  
 

5



 

 

2. Approves the Housing Compensation Policy.   
 
3. Delegates authority to the Director of Housing and Property, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property, to make minor amendments to the 
Housing Compensation Policy as required by changes to regulation or legislation. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Doing nothing would leave the Council without a compensation policy in place.  This 
had not been recommended due to the risk of non-compliance with statutory 
obligations; it also increased the likelihood of a service failure becoming a formal 
complaint. 
 
Approving and implementing the Housing Compensation Policy was the preferred 
option, as the policy provided clear guidance on the Council’s arrangements for the 
payment of compensation. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
The Housing Compensation Policy provided clear guidance and consistency:  
 

• on the payment of statutory compensation  
• on situations where the payment of discretionary compensation was 
appropriate  
• by reducing the likelihood of a challenge through the courts and the Upper 
Tribunal (Lands Chamber)  
• by recognising the Council’s commitment to putting things right where there 
was a service failure. 

 
The Policy also outlined which claims could not be considered for compensation; for 
example those claims for personal injury, for damage caused by circumstances 
beyond the Council’s control, issues caused by a third party not working for the 
Council, and problems resulting from a failure of the tenant to act reasonably. 
 
Compensation could take the form of money, or work to repair damage, for example, 
repairs needed due to flooding. Compensation payments by the Council for service 
failure, loss and disrepair had increased in 2021/22 compared to the figures seen in 
2020/21. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property highlighted that there had been an 
error when drafting the Policy. Due to best practice being followed from North 
Northamptonshire Council, their name had mistakenly appeared within the draft 
policy. This would require correction to clarify that South Kesteven District Council 
were the owners of the Policy. 
 
Cabinet Members thanked the Housing team, the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property, and other officers involved with the Policy for their work in bringing this 
report to Cabinet. 
 

6



 

 

54. Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 introduced a new statutory definition of domestic 
abuse, which legally required Councils to implement it as part of their strategic 
housing responsibilities. The draft Domestic Abuse Policy set out how the Council 
would respond to reports of domestic abuse, including both as a landlord and when 
people approach as homeless and for housing advice.  
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Notes the content of the report, the consultation responses and Equality Impact 

Assessment.  
 
2. Approves the Domestic Abuse Policy.  
 
3. Delegates authority to the Director of Housing and Property, in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property to make minor amendments to 
the Domestic Abuse Policy as needed by changes to regulation or legislation. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Not implementing the new policy and instead operating within the framework of the 
Lincolnshire Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021 – 2024 and the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy – this was rejected. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
Implementing a new Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy would set out how the 
Council would meet their statutory responsibilities to their tenants, members of their 
household and people approaching for housing advice and homelessness assistance 
if they were affected by domestic abuse. 
 
The Council would respond to reports of domestic abuse both as a landlord and 
within their remit as a housing provider. The Policy would ensure that the Council 
took steps to ensure support for any individuals suffering domestic abuse. 
 
The Policy would assist the Council to meet the aims within the Safer Lincolnshire 
Partnership. This was the single multi–agency forum for addressing community 
safety issues across Lincolnshire. Within the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership there 
was a Core Priority Group focusing specifically on domestic abuse. 
 
Funding for domestic abuse support work had been sourced and these practices 
would form part of daily business for teams going forward. 
 
The Council was committed to the white ribbon campaign which would take place on 
25 November 2022, coinciding with 16 days of action against domestic violence. On 

7



 

 

adoption of the policy the Council intended to deliver training via the Domestic Abuse 
Housing Alliance (DAHA) to upskill all front-line staff. 
 
The following points were raised during discussion: 
 

• This policy supported two Corporate Plan priorities and would become 
‘business as usual’ work of the Council. 

• Domestic abuse affected all members of society including children. Anyone 
who was the victim of domestic abuse should reach out to the Council or the 
Police. 

• The Policy was available in other languages. 

• Domestic abuse cases rose during the pandemic, and 6% of all victims were 
men. 

• Staff would be upskilled to enable them to become ‘Domestic Abuse 
Champions’. This was industry best practice across Housing Services. 

 
55. Contract Award in Relation to Social Landlord Services 
 
Purpose of report 
 
Following a fully compliant procurement process, the Council was now in a position 
to award a contract for the surveying and analytical services in relation to asbestos 
within the Council’s housing stock. This report sought Cabinet approval to award the 
contract to the successful contractor. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet approves the Council entering into a contract for Asbestos Surveying 
and Analytical services with Tersus. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Continuing with the current contractor was not recommended as there were no 
contract extension options and asbestos management was a key housing 
compliance theme. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
A fully compliant procurement process had resulted in the identification of a supplier 
that met the Council’s requirements. 
 
The report outlined a key contract which enabled the Council to fulfil its regulatory 
duty to its tenanted properties. 
 
There had been a compliant procurement process behind the award of the contract, 
started in the summer of 2022, through the Fusion 21 framework. 
 
The report met the Corporate Priority of ‘Housing that meets the needs of all 
residents’. 
 

8



 

 

 
56. Grantham Park Tennis Courts 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To ensure that a tennis court provision was available at Wyndham Park in Grantham, 
which in turn would support a new generation of tennis players at grass roots level. 
This was supported by the agreement to call upon Grantham’s Special Expense Area 
to set aside money to cover gate maintenance and a three-year sinking fund. It was 
recommended that refurbishment of the tennis court at Dysart Park was subject to 
consideration by Cabinet at a future meeting. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
1. Provides delegated authority to the Director of Growth and Culture to enter into a 
15-year leasehold agreement with Grantham Tennis Club in relation to the two tennis 
courts at Wyndham Park Grantham.  
 
2. Provides delegated authority to the S151 Officer to accept the offer of 100% grant 
funding, in the sum of approximately £57,000, from the Lawn Tennis Association to 
refurbish the two tennis courts in Wyndham Park Grantham.  
 
3. Provides delegated authority to the S151 Officer to utilise money from the 
Grantham Special Expense Area to cover the sinking fund and gate maintenance 
costs for a three-year period amounting to £8,428.  
 
4. Requests a review after twelve months from completion of the refurbishment at 
Wyndham Park Grantham, before proceeding into an agreement to refurbish the one 
tennis court in Dysart Park Grantham should match funding be made available. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
The Council could have provided the capital investment to undertake remedial work 
to the courts and continue to manage them as part of the parks service. However, 
given the current financial challenges the Council was facing, the opportunity to 
attract grant funding, and work in partnership with Grantham Tennis Club, was 
fiscally more prudent.  
 
If no investment had been made into the two tennis courts in Wyndham Park, it may 
have been necessary to take these out of use in the near future. A removal of 
community facilities would have a reputational impact on the Council. It was for this 
reason that the ‘do nothing’ option had been discounted. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
The two tennis courts in Wyndham Park were coming towards the end of their 
operational life and could pose a health and safety risk soon if they were not 
refurbished. The refurbishment works identified represented a significant 

9



 

 

improvement and would provide enhanced opportunities for local residents and 
visitors which aligned with the Council’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy (2021-
2026). It was also a key requirement in the Council’s investment plan to improve 
parks and open spaces. 
 
In order to access the funding proposed from the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA), it 
would be necessary to enter a leasehold arrangement for the two tennis courts in 
Wyndham Park with Grantham Tennis Club.  
 
The proposal from the LTA to fully fund the refurbishment investment required for the 
two courts at Wyndham Park as part of a phased approach would provide much 
needed investment for the two courts most in need of renewal. The funding provided 
by the LTA would help with the upgrade of surfaces and nets, as well as the 
installation of perimeter fencing and smart access to the courts. Grantham Tennis 
Club would promote the use of the courts to the public.  
 
The opportunity existed to explore further funding for the tennis court in Dysart Park 
in twelve months’ time from the completion of the court refurbishment in Wyndham 
Park. 
 
The following points were raised during discussion: 
 

• Thanks were given to the officers involved, in particular the Team Leader for 
Leisure and Open Spaces. 

• Securing 100% grant funding was welcomed and would help to support the 
physical activity of residents. It was hoped that further match funding would be 
achieved in future. 

 
 
 
57. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
Cabinet noted its Forward Plan. 
 
Meeting closed at 2:29pm. 
 
 

10



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

Date 13 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Deputy Leader of the council 
 
 

 

 

Council Tax Base 2023/24 
 

Report Author 

Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

  alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To recommend the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2023/24. 
 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Recommends to Full Council the Council Tax Base for 2023/24 of 49,329.0 
in accordance with the relevant legislation.  This will form the basis upon 
which the Council will estimate Council Tax income for the 2023/24 
budget. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 These are contained within the report.  Setting the tax base is an important 

milestone in the annual budget setting process and allows the Council to project 

the anticipated Council Tax that will be collected for the following financial year. 

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The approval of the Council Tax Base detailed in this report is required in 

accordance with the legislation referred to in Section 67 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992, which sets out the requirements for council tax setting which 

can be discharged by full Council.  

1.3 The proposals in this report will be considered by Council at its budget setting 

meeting scheduled for 1 March 2023. 

 

Completed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer  

 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by s84 of the Local 

Government Act 2003 set out the requirements allowing each local authority to 

12



make its own arrangements for adopting the Council Tax base. The Local 

Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 

2012:2914) provides amended statutory guidance to incorporate the changes 

resulting from the introduction of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS). 

 

2.2 The Council Tax Base forms part of the calculation for the council tax for the local 

area; the number of properties that will form the Council Tax Base must therefore 

be agreed. 

2.3 As well as setting out the requirement that the Council Tax Base be calculated, 

statute also sets out the timeframe in which this must be completed. The Council 

is required to inform its preceptors of the Council Tax Base by 31 January 2023. 

2.4 The council tax varies between different bands according to proportions laid down 

in legislation. These proportions are based around Band D and are fixed so that 

the bill for a dwelling in Band A will be a third of the bill for a dwelling in Band H. 

Applying the relevant proportion to each band’s net property base produces the 

number of ‘Band D’ equivalent properties for the area. 

2.5 In determining the Council Tax Base for 2023/24 the following factors have been 

taking into considerations: 

(a)  The tax base for parish purposes is based on the number of properties as 
at 12 September 2022 and the discounts and exemptions applicable on 3 
October 2022, as prescribed by legislation; 

(b) An adjustment for the impact of the local Council Tax Support Scheme that 
has been adopted by South Kesteven District Council; 

(c) An adjustment for the empty property premium, which allows South 
Kesteven District Council to charge a premium of between 100% and 300% 
depending upon the period the property has remained empty. 

 

2.6 The table below summarises the position showing the proposed tax base for 

South Kesteven for 2023/24 is 49,329.0 Band D equivalents. This is an increase of 

1.28% on the previous financial year 2022/23. Appendix A analyses these figures 

at Parish level. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13



 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 

Total Band D 
equivalents 

53,017.6 52,663.2 52,170.4 51,757.0 

Impact of 
LCTSS 
Discounts and 
Work Incentive 

(3,688.6) (3,956.5) (4,048) (3,838.2) 

Total Band D 
Equivalent 
properties 

49,329.0 48,706.7 48,122.4 47,918.4 

Tax Base 
Growth 

1.28% 1.21% 0.4% 1.68% 

 

Adjustment for the Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 

2.7 The localisation of Council Tax Support which was introduced from 1 April 2013 

has a direct impact on the setting of the Council Tax base. 

2.8 The Council Tax base must therefore be adjusted to include the impact of the 

Localised Council Tax Support scheme that has been adopted by South Kesteven 

District Council. 

2.9 As set out in Table 1, the LCTSS reduces the tax base and therefore the Council 

tax income collected by individual precepting bodies. 

Adjustment for empty property premiums 

2.10 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 first introduced the power for local 

authorities to charge a premium of up to 50% where a property was left 

unoccupied and unfurnished.   

2.11 The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council tax (Empty Dwellings) 

Act 2018 allowed Councils to increase these premiums in line with legislation from 

1 April 2019 and each year thereafter for a further two years. 

2.12 The Council Tax Base is increased as a result of the empty premium which allows 

a billing authority to charge a premium on properties left unoccupied and 

unfurnished.  These premiums are as follows: - 

(a) Up to 100% premium for properties empty between two and five years – 

resulting in a full charge of 200% 

(b) Up to 200% premium for properties empty between five and ten years – 

resulting in a full charge of 300% 

(c) Up to 300% premium for properties empty for at least ten years – resulting 

in a full charge of 400% 

2.13 As set out in Table 1, the empty property premium increases the tax base and 

therefore the Council tax income collected by individual precepting bodies.  

 

14



3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 These are set out in the report. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 None. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 If the recommendation is supported, it will be used in the calculation and budget 

preparations for 2023/24. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 None – this report contains technical calculations for the council’s tax base for 

2023/24 as prescribed by legislation. 

 

7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix A – 2023/24 Council Tax Base by Parish. 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A
2022/23 Council Tax Base by Parish

Parish/Town Council

2023/24 
Band D 

Equivalents

2022/23 
Band D 

Equivalents Variance
Grantham combined 11383.00 11,287.0 96.0
Stamford combined 7419.80 7,372.9 46.9
Bourne Combined 6040.40 5,878.3 162.1
Allington 349.50 353.0 (3.5)
Ancaster 586.00 584.2 1.8
Aslackby 113.00 109.2 3.8
Barholm & Stowe 44.00 43.6 0.4
Barkston and Syston combined 255.30 249.2 6.1
Barrowby 828.30 729.2 99.1
Baston 622.70 620.6 2.1
Belton & Manthorpe 201.50 205.8 (4.3)
Billingborough 485.30 490.1 (4.8)
Bitchfield 57.40 56.9 0.5
Boothby Pagnell 63.90 63.2 0.7
Braceborough & Wilsthorpe 141.90 140.3 1.6
Braceby, Humby, Ropsely, Sapperton combined 335.20 329.4 5.8
Burton Coggles 41.80 40.3 1.5
Careby 76.50 76.6 (0.1)
Carlby 215.10 211.6 3.5
Carlton Scroop and Normanton combined 129.40 126.3 3.1
Castle Bytham 321.90 314.4 7.5
Caythorpe & Frieston 529.60 543.9 (14.3)
Claypole 512.40 510.4 2.0
Colsterwoth, Gunby & Stainby, North Witham combined 760.00 755.5 4.5
Corby Glen & Birkholme 407.60 411.0 (3.4)
Counthorpe & Creeton 25.10 26.4 (1.3)
Deeping St James 2578.50 2,524.2 54.3
Denton 122.10 121.0 1.1
Dowsby 54.00 55.4 (1.4)
Dunsby 51.60 51.4 0.2
Easton and Stoke Rochford combined 80.00 80.2 (0.2)
Edenham 116.00 114.7 1.3
Fenton 60.00 59.8 0.2
Folkingham 286.60 282.6 4.0
Foston 219.40 221.6 (2.2)
Fulbeck 219.20 216.5 2.7
Greatford 129.30 130.5 (1.2)
Great Gonerby 790.30 747.2 43.1
Great Ponton 129.30 124.3 5.0
Haconby & Stainfield 200.10 195.1 5.0
Harlaxton 348.30 346.3 2.0
Heydour 155.20 154.6 0.6
Honington 63.10 64.0 (0.9)
Horbling 163.50 161.4 2.1
Hougham 82.10 83.4 (1.3)
Hough-on-the-Hill 174.50 174.8 (0.3)
Ingoldsby 121.60 120.8 0.8
Irnham 105.30 103.2 2.1

17

Appendix A



Kirkby Underwood 80.20 80.9 (0.7)
Langtoft 762.90 761.3 1.6
Lenton 65.30 63.7 1.6
Little Bytham 120.00 114.6 5.4
Little Ponton & Stroxton 69.70 68.5 1.2
Londonthorpe & Harrowby without combined 1676.70 1,678.7 (2.0)
Long Bennington 986.20 963.1 23.1
Market Deeping 2319.60 2,295.2 24.4
Marston 156.30 152.7 3.6
Morton & Hanthorpe 849.10 843.3 5.8
Old Somerby 90.70 91.3 (0.6)
Pickworth 82.30 79.2 3.1
Pointon 197.10 198.5 (1.4)
Rippingale 352.30 350.4 1.9
Sedgebrook 150.90 152.0 (1.1)
Skillington 139.20 137.3 1.9
South Witham 472.90 473.5 (0.6)
Stubton 77.70 78.8 (1.1)
Swayfield 152.80 147.9 4.9
Swinstead 84.00 83.0 1.0
Tallington 358.00 347.4 10.6
Thurlby 821.90 826.1 (4.2)
Toft Lound & Manthorpe 141.80 139.4 2.4
Uffington 314.70 315.3 (0.6)
Welby 80.40 78.7 1.7
Westborough & Dry Doddington 146.00 145.6 0.4
West Deeping 119.80 117.5 2.3
Witham-on-the-Hill 99.30 96.6 2.7
Woolsthorpe 144.60 143.9 0.7
Wyville cum Hungerton 20.00 20.0 0.0
Total by Billing Area 49,329.0 48,706.7 622.3

18



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 
13 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Deputy Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

 
Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 
 

Report Author 

Claire Moses, Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service 

  01476 406210 ext. 6484 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
This report reviews the Council’s Localised Council Tax Support Scheme in advance of 
the 2023/24 financial year, as well as proposals made in relation to the discount for care 
leavers, discount for Special Constables and Discretionary Hardship Fund. 
 
 

Recommendations 

 

That the Committee: 

1. Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council the Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme for 2023/24 which is based on the same overarching criteria as 
the current year scheme as detailed in paragraph 2.14 to 2.22. 

2. Cabinet is asked to include the continuation of the £20,000 Discretionary 
Payment fund for 2023/24 in their budget proposals.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

19

Agenda Item 5



 

Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 
1.  Implications 
 
Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 
governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 
staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 
declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 
identified: 
 
Finance and Procurement  
 
1.1 The actual cost of the discount scheme for 2023/24 will not be known for certain 

until the end of 2022/23 and will be dependent on the actual caseload in year, the 
levels of Council Tax set by the District Council and the major precepting 
authorities, along with the outcome of the benefit and applicable amount uprating.  

1.2 Estimated cost of the scheme, based on current caseload, is taken into 
consideration when calculating the Council’s tax base for the financial year and 
will impact on the estimated Council Tax yield for the year.  Any difference in the 
actual cost of the discount scheme to that estimated in the tax base calculation will 
be accounted for within the Collection Fund and will be considered when future 
years surpluses or deficits are declared. 

1.3 The Discretionary Payment fund of £30,000 made available in previous years and 
is proposed for 2023/24. 

1.4 Should the Council wish to approve the proposal to continue of the Council Tax 
Discount for Police Special Constables, this will be a direct cost to the General 
Fund of circa £10,000 for awards relating to 2022/23 (if all eligible Special 
Constables applied for the discount). 
 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer and s151 Officer 
 
Legal and Governance 
 
1.5 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 

2012, laid before Parliament on 22nd November 2012, set out the regulations for a 
default scheme and this was adopted by the Council subject to local policy needs 
in January 2013.  The Secretary of State has issued amendment regulations 

20



setting out some changes that must be adopted by the Council for pensioners and 
the Council had also decided in 2013 to keep the schemes allowances and 
premiums in line with those for Housing Benefit for working age claimants.  These 
are incorporated into amendments to the local scheme for approval by the 
Council. 
 

1.6 The regulations for the scheme proposed to be adopted are to be collated and 
made available for Council in January 2023. 

 
Completed by Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer  
 
 
Risk and Mitigation 
 
1.7 The Council, along with the other preceptors, bears the risk of the cost of the 

Council Tax Support scheme should caseload increase cause the cost to increase 
more than predicted. 
 

1.8 The Council bears the risk of the cost of the Special Constable Discount scheme 
should eligible numbers increase, resulting in an increase to the cost of the 
scheme. 

 
1.9 Any revisions to the scheme must be approved by 31 January 2023. 
 
1.10 The scheme cannot be changed mid-year and therefore it is vital the correct 

scheme is in place. 
 
Completed by: Tracey Elliot, Governance and Risk Officer 
 
 
2. Background to the Report 
 
2.1  The Council Tax Benefit system was abolished on 31 March 2013 and replaced by 

the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS). This scheme can be determined 
locally by the Billing Authority having had due consultation with precepting 
authorities, key stakeholders, and residents. 

 
2.2 As at 25 November 2022, there are currently 7,397 residents claiming Council Tax 

Support in the South Kesteven District. Of these, 3,150 are pensioners and 2,742 
are vulnerable working age, who are protected under the legislation and receive 
Council Tax support as prescribed by the Government (broadly similar to the level 
of Council Tax Benefit). It is the 1,505 remaining working age claimants where a 
local scheme can be determined which can change the level of support provided. 

 
2.3 A breakdown of caseload can be seen in the table below: 

21



 
1st of month Working age Pension age Total 
September 2019 4,190 3,451 7,641 
December 2019 4,223 3,403 7,626 
March 2020 4,290 3,374 7,664 
June 2020 4,955 3,354 8,309 
September 2020 4,950 3,320 8,270 
December 2020 4,941 3,272 8,213 
March 2021 4,881 3,246 8,127 
June 2021 4,936 3,244 8,180 
September 2021 4,611 3,205 7,816 
December 2021 4,387 3,197 7,584 
March 2022 4,388 3,164 7,552 
June 2022 4,356 3,162 7,518 
October 2022 4,273 3,141 7,414 
November 2022* 4,247 3,150 7,397 

 
 *Data as at 25 November 2022 
 
2.4 The Council agreed to a Council Tax Support scheme which came into effect on 

1 April 2013. The scheme currently provides 80% entitlement for working age 
claimants. 

 
2.5 The proposed scheme must go through specific steps to comply with the 

provisions stated in the Local Government Finance Act 2012 before it can be 
adopted by this Council as the Billing Authority: - 

Before making a scheme, the authority must (in the following order): - 

(a) consult any major precepting authority which have power to 
issue a precept to it 

(b) publish a draft scheme in such a manger as it thinks fit; and 

(c) consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an 
interest in the operation of the scheme 

 
2.6 Any scheme design has a wide-ranging set of competing and sometimes, 

conflicting objectives that need to be considered.  These can be listed as (in no 
particular order): - 

 
 National welfare benefits 

 Cost of Living 

 Council budget capacity 

 Council tax collection rates 

 Economy 

 Demographics 

22



 Caseload (need for support) 

 Council objectives 

 Other Council comparisons 

 
2.7 Given the current operating context, it will be problematic to fundamentally re-

assess any Council Tax scheme due to the volatility that is impacting on a 
number of the objectives listed above. 

 
2.8 Despite the scheme being a ‘local’ CTS scheme due to the nature of protection 

provided to pensioners and vulnerable working age customers, there will always 
be an element of cost that the Council has to incur and for which it has no 
influence over. 

 
2.9 The current caseload can be broken down as follows, to show those customers 

where the scheme changes would apply: 
 

Caseload breakdown Caseload % of caseload 

Total caseload 7,397 100% 

Pensioner 3,150 42.58% 

Working age vulnerable 2,742 37.07% 

Working age 1,505 20.35% 

 
 
2.10 In order to try and contain the cost of the 2023/24 scheme within the budget 

parameters, a number of options were modelled and considered, however, key 
information such as benefit increases and applicable amounts increases have not 
yet been released.  We know benefits will increase by 10.1%, but the actual 
weekly, monthly and figures are not yet 

 
2.11 Based on caseload as of 25 November 2022, the current cost of the 2022/23 

scheme is £7,057,599 with South Kesteven’s share of this being £635,184 (9%).  
 
2.12  Due to this protection from changes to pensioners and vulnerable working age 

customers, any ‘savings’ to be made to the proposed scheme can only be applied 
to the 1,505 customers, or 20.35% of the caseload. The following shows the 
impact of various Council Tax increases: - 

 
Council 
Tax 
Increase 

Potential 
increase 

Increased 
Cost (Total) 

Increased 
Cost 

(SKDC) 

Difference to 
current position 

for SKDC 
(£635,184) 

3% £211,728 £7,269,327 £654,239 £19,055 

23



4% £282,304 £7,339,903 £660,591 £25,407 

5% £352,880 £7,410,479 £666,943 £31,759 

 
2.13 The reality is that out of any potential options that may reduce spend against 

budget is to decrease the ‘maximum entitlement’ – e.g., to reduce the maximum 
CTS customers can receive from the current position of 80%. The consultation 
included a question with regards to the level of maximum entitlement, asking 
consultees whether they agreed with the current scheme, of which 74.07% of 
respondents did agree. 

 
 
Current Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

2.14 The current scheme has the following restrictions to working age customers: 
(i)  Maximum entitlement capped at 80%. 

 

2.15 The current scheme has the following amendments to Council tax technical 
restrictions for all Council Taxpayers: 

(i)    Introduction of additional premium charges for empty properties 
1. Empty up to two years – premium of 100% 
2. Empty between two and five years – premium of 200% 
3. Empty after 10 years – premium of 300% 

 
(ii) Unoccupied discount of 100% for the first month; 

(iii) Care leavers council tax exemption – 100% for those aged between their 
18th and 25th birthdays; and 

(iv) Special Constabulary discount scheme of 25%. 

 

Council Tax Exemption for care leavers 

2.16 The scheme was first approved for 2019/20, for a local discretionary Council Tax 
discount of up to 100% for care leavers aged 18 to 21 years, with the discount 
ending on the individuals 22nd birthday.   

2.17 The scheme was amended for 2021/22 and the, the age limit was increased to 
24 years of age, with the discount ending on the individuals 25th birthday. 

 
Special Constabulary Council Tax Discount Scheme 

2.18 The scheme was first approved for 2022/23.  Currently, we have 3 Special 
Constables in receipt of the discount. 

2.19 If the scheme is approved to continue in 2023/24, the award of the discount will 
be referenced to service during 2022/23. As a result, the eligibility for the 
discount will be considered, and an award made no later than the 31 May of the 
following financial year and will be applied to the Council tax account in 2023/24. 

24



2.20 If the scheme continues, the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) will write to 
all Special Constables who live within the district of South Kesteven, by 30 April 
2023, confirming they have met the hours worked criteria, and will provide a link 
to the Councils website. 

2.21 The Special Constable will be required to complete the application form and 
upload the letter from the PCC. An award will be made no later than 31 May 
2023. 

2.22 The award of the discount will be referenced to service during 2022/23. As a 
result, the eligibility for the discount will be considered, and an award made no 
later than the 31 May of the following financial year and will be applied to the 
Council tax account in 2023/24. 

 

Discretionary Payment Fund 

2.23 A Discretionary Payment (DP) is available to anyone in receipt of Council Tax 
Support and have a shortfall between the weekly amount awarded and their 
Council Tax liability. 

2.24 The total amount of funding allocated for each year is £30,000. For 2022/23, the 
decision was taken to move any unspent funding from 2021/22 into the new year. 
As a result, in 2022/23 there was a total of £38,815 funding available. 

 
2.25 To date, £15,472 has been awarded, meaning there is £23,343 remaining, to be 

issued up to 31 March 2023. 
 
2.26 Discretionary Payments can be applied for independently but are often considered 

as part of the application process for Discretionary Housing Payments (support for 
shortfall between Housing Benefit / Universal Credit award and eligible rent).  
Officers are aware of the DP and actively encourage customers to apply where 
eligibility criteria are met. 

 
2.27 Work is being undertaken as part of the Cost of Living Strategic Working Group to 

promote the funding to ensure support is available by those impacted by current 
cost of living pressures. 

 
2.28 In addition to this, residents will also be supported by South Kesteven District 

Council in the form of the Household Support Fund (HSF) grant.  The Council are 
working in collaboration with Lincolnshire County Council and the Lincolnshire 
Districts to agree a scheme for implementation. 

 

Key Findings from the public consultation: 

2.29 Public consultation began on 26 September 2022 and ran to 21 October 2022. 
Consultation has been undertaken with major precepting authorities, 
stakeholders and residents through a variety of methods, as detailed below: - 

 An online survey (paper surveys were issued upon request); 

25



 All South Kesteven District Council Members and Parish Clerks were 
issued with an email advising them of the consultation; 

 Partner organisations were also advised of the proposed scheme – 
include Citizens Advice; and 

 Major preceptors – Police and Crime Commission and Lincolnshire 
County Council  

 

2.30 There were a total of 7,414 residents eligible to respond to the survey, and of 
these, 27 did respond – this is a rate of 0.36%. The key findings are detailed 
below 

1) 20 or 84.07% of respondents support the current scheme, which 
includes the continuation of the Council Tax exemption for care leavers, 
the Council Tax discount for Special Constables and the Discretionary 
Payment fund. 

2) There was an additional question asked, which enabled the respondent 
to provide commentary. These have been grouped into common 
themes: - 

(i) The criteria for eligibility need to be reviewed, to take into 
account the detrimental effect on pensioners / low income; 

(ii) Carers aren't included; 

(iii) The support is not enough, it needs to be 100%; and 

(iv) General comments relating to cost of living and impact on mental 
health; 

 
3. Key Considerations 
 
3.1 Cabinet is asked to consider the proposed scheme in advance of the 2023/24 

financial year.  The options were presented to the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22 
November 2022. 

 
3.2 The timetable to approve any change to the new scheme is set out below and 

considers the existing calendar of meetings.  The full Council as Billing Authority 
needs to approve the scheme after consultation as outlined in paragraph 1.4. 

. 
3.3 The Council meeting takes place on 26 January 2023 where a decision is 

required, seeking approval of a final 2023/24 scheme for implementation from 1 
April 2023.  The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires a full review of the 
scheme by the Billing Authority. South Kesteven District Council will need to 
approve the scheme by no later than 31 January. 

 
 

26



 
 
4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1 Options considered as set out in the report and supporting appendices. The 

current scheme information is detailed in paragraph 2.14 and 2.22 of this report 
 
5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
5.1 These are set out in the report. 
 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 Following the recommendation from Cabinet, the scheme will be presented to 

Council in January 2023 for approval.   The proposed scheme was presented to 
the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 22 November 2022 and no changes were proposed. 

 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 A full report was presented to Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19 July 2022 (item 7) agreeing to 
recommendations for consultation. A further report was presented to Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 22 November 2022 to review the outcome of the public 
consultation. 

 
7.2 The reports can be accessed here:  
 

a) 19 July 2022 – item 7: 
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=42
73 

b) 22 November 2022 – item 7: 
moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=43
03 

 
 
8. Appendices 
 
8.1 There are two appendices to this report, as details below: 
 

a) Appendix 1: Lincolnshire County Council consultation response 
b) Appendix 2: Police and Crime Commissioner consultation response 

 
 
 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

Dear Claire 
 
Thanks for sharing the consultation and we have nothing to feedback on the SKDC 
proposals.  
 
Thanks 
Andrew 
 
Andrew Crookham 

Deputy Chief Executive & Executive Director of Resources 

  
Lincolnshire County Council 
County Offices, Newland, Lincoln, LN1 1YL 

 

29

Appendix One



This page is intentionally left blank



 

2022-1253 20221021 LT Richard Wyles SKDC - Council Tax Support Scheme 2023-24
  Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

Deepdale Lane, Nettleham, Lincoln  LN2 2LT  
Telephone (01522) 947192 Fax (01522) 558739 

E-Mail:  lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.police.uk   Website: www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk 
  

  

Date:  21 October 2022 
Our Ref:  JF/ch/kc/2022-1253                                                    

 
Mr Richard Wyles 
Chief Finance Officer 
South Kesteven District Council 
Council Offices 
St Peter’s Hill 
GRANTHAM 
Lincolnshire   NG31 6PZ 
 
By email only to:  R.WYLES@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Richard 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 

 
Thank you for your letter of 27th September 2022 in which you invite comment on South Kesteven 
District Council’s proposed Council Tax Support Scheme for 2023/24. I note that no changes to 
the current scheme are proposed. 
 
The PCC welcomes the Council’s proposed continuation of the council tax discount scheme for 
Special Constables. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Julie Flint 
Chief Finance Officer 
 
  

31

Appendix Two

mailto:lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.police.uk
http://www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/
mailto:R.WYLES@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 
Date: 13 December 2022 
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid, 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 
 

 

 
Theatre Roof Replacement Works – Stamford 
Arts Centre  
 

Report Author 

Gyles Teasdale – Senior Assets Officer  

 
 g.teasdale@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
This report sets out the procurement process that has been undertaken in respect of the 
roofing repairs at Stamford Arts Centre.   
 
 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet:

1. Approves the contract award to Hardy Construction (Stamford) Ltd to
undertake essential maintenance works to the Stamford Arts Centre roof 
for the sum of £384,985.

 

 
 
 
 
 

33

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Growth and our economy 
 

Which wards are impacted? Stamford St Mary’s 

 
1. Implications 

 
Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 
governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 
staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 
declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 
identified: 
 
Finance and Procurement  
 
1.1 The works set out in the report are required to maintain a quality provision in 

Stamford and are the Council’s responsibility in accordance with the lease.  The 
budget for these works is included in the capital programme approved by Council 
on 3 March 2022.   

  
Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  
 
Legal and Governance 
 
1.2 The proposed award of this contract has followed a fully compliant procurement 

process. 
 
Completed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 
 
Health and Safety 
 
1.3 There is a clear responsibility under Section 4 of the Health and Safety at Work 

Act 1974 “General duties to persons other than those in their employ” which states 
that: 
 

34



“It shall be the duty of each person who has, to any extent, control of premises to 
which this section applies or of the means of access thereto or egress therefrom 
or of any plant or substance in such premises to take such measures as it is 
reasonable for a person in his position to take to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, that the premises, all means of access thereto or egress therefrom 
available for use by persons using the premises, and any plant or substance in the 
premises or, as the case may be, provided for use there, is or are safe and without 
risks to health.” 
 

1.4 There are also the general duties of Section 2 of the Act which require every 
employer to ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, the Health, Safety and 
Welfare at work of their employees. Any defect to the structure of the building 
clearly has the potential to introduce risk to all those using the facility. 
 

Completed by: Phil Swinton, Health and Safety Manager 
 

2. Background to the Report 
 
2.1 While undertaking essential roofing replacement and repairs to the Stamford Arts 

Centre in 2021, it became apparent that there was further deterioration to the roof 
that was not included in the original roof works.  
 

2.2 Works are proposed to replace the Collywestern slate roof covering to the Theatre 
roof after identifying that the western elevation is showing signs of wear and tear.  
 

2.3 A survey has been commissioned with William Saunders prior to commencement 
of the tendering process to review the current condition of the roof following 
repairs.  
 

2.4 Considering the number of defects inspected across the roof pitches to the 
Theatre building, the proposal is to strip and re-roof to a commensurate 
reinstatement specification utilising as many of the existing tiles as possible.  
 

2.5 In accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015, this tender opportunity 
was advertised on Contracts Finder (published 3rd October 2022). 

 
2.6 On publication of the Contract Notice, organisations were asked to register their 

interest via the Council’s “ProContract” e-Sourcing portal, where Tender documents 
were available.  

 
2.7 The Tender was made up of two questionnaire sets: one questionnaire for the 

selection criteria questions, and one for award criteria questions.  
 
2.8 The award criteria questions considered the merit of the eligible tenders in order to 

identify the most economically advantageous tender.  
 

35



2.9 The Council evaluated the award criteria with a quality assessment worth 60% and 
a price assessment worth 40%.  The bidder’s response to each quality question was 
evaluated and marked a maximum of 10 marks. 

 

Price scores were calculated based on the potential supplier with the lowest overall 
compliant price being awarded the full score of 40%.  
 

2.10 Following the completion of the evaluation and moderation process the scores 
awarded to the participants were as follows: 

 
2.11 Following the completion of the procurement process, it is recommended that Bidder 

2 (Hardy Construction) is awarded the contract. 
 

2.12 If the recommendation is approved, the preferred bidder and all unsuccessful 
bidders will be notified of the outcome. Subject to due diligence being completed to 
the Council’s satisfaction, the Council intends to enter into the Contract with Hardy 
Construction (Stamford) Limited for the duration of the works. 

 
3. Key Considerations 
 
3.1 Key areas of for consideration are set out within the report. 
 
4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1 Option 1 - Consultation has been held with Welland Procurement and SKDC’s 

Procurement Lead to establish the most appropriate route of procurement.  

An open tender exercise has been identified as the most appropriate route for 
the roof repair works to the Theatre roof at Stamford Arts Centre. This is an 
advertised process using the mandatory procurement portals. This process 
included no shortlisting and therefore, any interested bidder had the opportunity 
to submit a full tender. The criteria meant that the winning bidder would be the 
bidder with the highest evaluation score, based on 40% cost and 60% quality. 

4.2  Option 2 – Consideration has also been given to the deferment of the Theatre 
roof replacement works to a future financial year. A survey was commissioned 
with William Saunders Partnership prior to commencement of the tender process 
to ascertain the existing condition of the roof following repairs.  The report 

Bidders Prices Prices Quality Combined Rank 

Bidder 1 £369,950.00 40% 17.3% 57.25% 3 

Hardy Construction 
(Stamford) Ltd £384,985.00 38.4% 36.8% 75.18% 1 

Bidder 3 £371,979.00 39.8% 32.3% 72.03% 2 

Bidder 4 £527,681.00 28.0% 25.5% 53.54% 4 

36



identified that the life expectancy of the roof was poor and in order to mitigate the 
risk associated with the roof condition, it was recommended that works to replace 
the roof covering should be undertaken.  

 
5  Reasons for the Recommendations 

 
5.1 Following the completion of the open tender procurement process, it is 

recommended that Hardy Construction (Stamford) Ltd is awarded the works 
contract based of their achievement of the highest overall evaluation score from 
the tender process   
 

5.2 This process is in accordance with the Council’s Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules and the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 Consultation has been held with Historic England and SKDC’s Conservation 

Officer with regard to the proposed works. Recording of the existing covering is to 
be undertaken as part of the contractual works.  

 
6.2 Consultation has also been held with Burghley Estates who are the freeholders of 

the site to seek approval for the works to be undertaken. 
 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 Council Budget report: 

moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4130&Ve
r=4. 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

13 December 2022 
 
Report of: Councillor Robert Reid, 
Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 
 
 

 

Contract Awards in relation to Social Landlord 

Services  
 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing  

  Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report is for the contract awards for: 

• A Choice Based Lettings system 

• Residential windows and doors replacement 

• Energy efficiency measures should the SHDF bid be successful 

 

All of which have been through a compliant procurement process.  

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Approves the award of a contract for Choice Based Lettings with Hume 
following compliant procurement. Contract period 4 years (3+1) contract 
value circa £112,500. 

2. Approves the award of a contract for Windows and Doors with Nationwide 
following compliant procurement. Contract period 4 years (2+1+1) contract 
value up to £6,000,000. 

3. Approves the award of a contract for Energy Efficiency Measures with    E-
ON following compliant procurement. Contract period 2 years 6 months, 
contract value up to £8,000,000 dependent upon Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund bid outcome. 

39

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The proposed award of the contracts for recommendations 1 and 2 are within 

budgeted levels for the 2022/23 budget framework.  Recommendation 3 is 

dependent upon the successful outcome of the Social Housing Decarbonisation 

Fund and the contract can only be awarded once Council has accepted any 

successful bid and approved the Council’s match funding budget.   

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The proposed award of these contracts has followed a fully compliant 

procurement process. 

 

Completed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

 

Climate Change 

 

1.3 Projects outlined will enable the Council to deliver on carbon reduction ambitions 

for our properties, alongside tangible benefits to tenants of reduced energy costs, 

and improved thermal comfort. 

 

Completed by: Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 

 

40



2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 

“Housing that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local 

authority, the Council has statutory and regulatory obligations to maintain and 

repair circa 5,900 properties. 

 

2.2 We have ensured compliance of the procurement process for all three contracts 

by engaging both Welland Procurement and our in-house Procurement Officer. 

 All three contracts are to be awarded via national frameworks to ensure 

deliverability, minimal risk and compliance with procurement guidelines.  

 

2.3 Choice Based Lettings 

 The Housing Allocations Policy approved by Cabinet in July 2022 placed an 

emphasis on a change in our approach to a Choice Based Lettings scheme (CBL). 

 

2.4 To enable the Council to implement CBL we were required to procure a system to 

manage the CBL process. The procurement process was initiated in September 

2022. Welland Procurement were engaged in the process from the beginning to 

ensure compliance. The procurement was undertaken via the G-Cloud, digital 

marketplace framework. 

 

2.5 Following searches of the framework utilising our identified key criteria there was 

only one supplier option, which enables us to direct award the contract to that 

supplier. The key criteria agreed for use on the search by the Assistant Director of 

Housing, Head of Housing and Housing Options Team Manager can be found as 

Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria. 

 

2.6 Following identification of the supplier, they have delivered a system 

demonstration, which reassured us of the viability and capability of the system 

along with an implementation timeline. The implementation shall require dedicated 

resource which we have a plan to deliver against. 

 

2.7 Should Cabinet approve this contract award, the Council shall progress with the 

implementation with an indicative timeline shown in Appendix 2 – CBL 

Implementation Indicative Timeline. With a planned Go-Live date of Quarter 2, 

2023. 

 

2.8 Windows and Doors 

 The Council has the responsibility to provide, throughout the District, doors and 

windows that provide security for our residents with multi locking systems and are 

‘secure by design’ compliant. We must also ensure that the Council are providing 

windows and doors that are in line with current environmental and energy 

efficiency requirements. 

 

41



2.9 The procurement process was initiated in the summer of 2022. Welland 

Procurement were engaged in the process from the beginning to ensure 

compliance. The procurement was undertaken via the EEM framework Efficiency 

East Midlands framework, EEM are a not-for-profit procurement consortium set up 

to drive cost and efficiency savings in the public sector. The Council have 

identified Lot 2 within the framework which provides Windows and Doors supply 

and installation, EEM’s scoping document can be viewed within the background 

documents - EEM Scope Lot 2 Windows and Doors Supply and Installation. 

 

2.10 We have identified the contractor that is currently ranked at number one in EEM’s 

contractor list, as such we are proposing to Direct Award the contract. EEM shall 

support the contract management and monitoring with monthly project meetings 

and KPI management. The identified contractor also provides an order tracking 

system via an online portal matching our digitalisation ambitions. 

 

2.11 Other factors considered prior to decision to Direct Award: 

• Location of supplier 

• In house manufacture of windows, doors including glass plate 

• Full compliance including BM Trada accredited manufacture and 

installation 

• Current agreements in place with neighbouring local authorities 

• Existing capacity to fulfil SKDC requirements 

 

2.12 Should Cabinet approve this contract award; the Council shall enter into a contract 

for an initial two years with the option for two one-year extensions dependent upon 

the Councils satisfaction with performance and quality. 

 

2.13 Energy Efficiency Measures 

 The Council have submitted a bid into Wave 2.1 of the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF), announced by the Department for Business, 

Energy and industrial Strategy (BEIS). This is an £800m fund designed to support 

local authorities and registered social housing providers to deliver warm, energy-

efficient homes, reduce carbon emissions and fuel bills, tackle fuel poverty, and 

support green jobs. 

 

2.14 The bid outcome is due to be announced in February of 2023, during the bid 

compilation process we utilised a consultant to aid our bid to maximise the bids 

value and viability. The bid has identified 333 properties for upgrades at a total 

value of £7,265,997 with 47% £3,418,480 of this total to be forthcoming from the 

grant application. 

 

2.15 The procurement process was initiated in early November 2022 whilst compiling 

the SHDF bid. Both Welland Procurement and the Council’s procurement support 

have been involved to ensure a fully compliant procurement process is followed. 

 

42



2.16 The Council intends to Direct Award a contract through the Fusion 21 framework 

Lot 1 – Whole House Decarbonisation. The Fusion 21 specification document can 

be found at Appendix 3 - Fusion 21 Lot 1 Decarbonisation Performance 

Specification. The contract shall be awarded dependent upon the success of the 

grant funding bid. The contract shall run for the duration of the funding period 

which is from April 2023 to May 2025. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 Fully compliant procurement processes have been undertaken resulting in the 

identification of suppliers to undertake these important aspects of work. 

 

3.2 There are no existing contracts in place to complete these works.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 There are no other options available. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 All of the proposed contract awards have followed compliant procurement 

processes and shall provide the Council with the appropriate contracts to aid us to 

deliver on our Corporate Priority to provide “Housing that meets the needs of all 

residents”. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 Choice Based Lettings 

This contract award was presented at the Rural Overview and Scrutiny meeting on 

the 8th of December 2022. 

 

7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Choice Based Lettings 

The paper, ‘Progress report on Choice-based lettings in line with the Housing 

Allocation Policy’ which was presented on December the 8th to the Rural Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee can be found at: 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=43

15&Ver=4 

 

7.2 EEM Scope Lot 2 Windows and Doors Supply and Installation – available in the 

modern.gov library at 

moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?bcr=1&sch=doc 

 

 

43

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=4315&Ver=4
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=4315&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?bcr=1&sch=doc


8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria  

 Appendix 2 – CBL Implementation Indicative Timeline 

 Appendix 3 - Fusion 21 Lot 1 Decarbonisation Performance Specification 

44



Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria 

 

The G-Cloud framework requires a key search on certain words to match the requirements required 

from suppliers, following consultation between the Acting Director, Head of Housing and Housing 

Options Manager the below key words were input to the G-Cloud search criteria. 

 

Choice based lettings                    Main system aim 

Register                                           Inclusion of register 

Mobile friendly                              Enable access via multiple/any device/platform 

Self-service                                     Enabling customer choice 

Social housing                                Our sector 

Reporting                                        Ability to enable effective KPI reporting 

Integration                                     Requirement to interface with existing systems, QL Yuneo 

 

Upon inserting the above key words/criteria we were left with one supplier HUME. 

45

Appendix One



This page is intentionally left blank



47

A
ppendix T

w
o



T
his page is intentionally left blank



i 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SPECIFICATION 

for 

LOT 1 – WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

  

49

Appendix Three



ii 
 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Objectives ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2. Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3. Scope ............................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.4. Legislation, Regulations and Standards ........................................................................................... 1 

1.5. Omissions and Errors...................................................................................................................... 2 

1.6. PAS2035:2019 ................................................................................................................................ 3 

1.7. Surveying ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.8. Property Types (Archetypes) .......................................................................................................... 3 

1.9. Funding ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.10. Compliance & Monitoring .............................................................................................................. 3 

1.11. Private Sector Housing ................................................................................................................... 4 

1.12. Marketing ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.13. Pricing ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.14. Innovation ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.15. Sustainability ................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.16. Collaboration ................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.17. Subcontracting ............................................................................................................................... 4 

1.18. Training and Employment .............................................................................................................. 4 

1.19. Case Studies ................................................................................................................................... 5 

2. Design & Planning .......................................................................................................................... 5 

2.1. Design at Call-off Stage .................................................................................................................. 5 

2.2. Surveying ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.3. British Standards and Codes of Practice .......................................................................................... 5 

3. Preliminaries and General Matters ................................................................................................. 7 

3.1. General .......................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.2. PAS2035:2019 ................................................................................................................................ 7 

3.3. PAS2030:2019 ................................................................................................................................ 7 

3.4. Resident Liaison ............................................................................................................................. 7 

3.5. Statutory Approvals ....................................................................................................................... 7 

3.6. Health and Safety (CDM) ................................................................................................................ 7 

3.7. Hours of Work ............................................................................................................................... 8 

3.8. Call off Contracts ............................................................................................................................ 8 

50



iii 
 

3.9. Social Value Reporting ................................................................................................................... 9 

3.10. Insurance ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

3.11. Limitation of Liability ..................................................................................................................... 9 

3.12. Accreditations ................................................................................................................................ 9 

3.13. Guarantees .................................................................................................................................... 9 

3.14. Warranties ................................................................................................................................... 10 

3.15. Performance Monitoring .............................................................................................................. 10 

3.16. Waste Management & Recycling .................................................................................................. 10 

3.17. Other Hazardous Materials........................................................................................................... 11 

4. Fabric Measures ........................................................................................................................... 11 

5. Ventilation Systems ..................................................................................................................... 18 

5.1. General Requirements ................................................................................................................. 18 

5.5. Workmanship and Specification ................................................................................................... 19 

5.6. Standards of Workmanship and Materials .................................................................................... 19 

6. Renewable Heating Systems ......................................................................................................... 20 

6.1. Air/Ground Source High Efficiency Electric Heating ....................................................................... 20 

6.2. General Requirements ................................................................................................................. 20 

6.8. Workmanship and Specification ................................................................................................... 20 

6.9. Standards of Workmanship and Materials .................................................................................... 20 

7. Solar Photovoltaic Systems .......................................................................................................... 24 

7.1. General Requirements ................................................................................................................. 24 

8. Improvement Works .................................................................................................................... 26 

8.1. General Requirements ................................................................................................................. 26 

51



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

1 
 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Objectives  

This document sets out the performance and minimum standards that must be achieved under this Framework 

Agreement. This specification also sets the minimum standards that must be priced for in the pricing document. 

In some instances, Fusion21 Members may go beyond the requirements detailed in this specification and in this 

instance this performance specification will be reissued with the Members specific requirements. This is to 

promote and enable innovation over the term of this Framework Agreement. 

1.2. Purpose  

This Framework provides Fusion21 Members who are working towards Net Zero Carbon by 2050 to their housing 

stock with access to a qualified supply chain. The Framework can also be accessed for the delivery of private sector 

schemes that are facilitated by a Fusion21 Member.  

This Performance Specification is to be used in conjunction with existing standards for the delivery of ‘whole 

house’ retrofit measures. By ‘whole house’ this means in accordance with the approach set out in PAS2035:2019. 

A holistic approach where each individual dwelling is subject to its own assessment for the installation of the most 

suitable energy efficiency measures (EEM) to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions for the 

homeowner. 

The purpose of the specification is to set minimum standards and is for the design, planning, works, testing, and 

commissioning of energy retrofit measures to domestic dwellings. These standards must be adhered to whilst 

undertaking framework activities for Fusion21 through this Framework. 

1.3. Scope  

The scope of the Framework covers all the requirements set out in PAS2035:2019 for the design, supply, 

installation and commissioning of retrofit measures to domestic dwellings, this includes but is not limited to fabric 

measures (EWI, CWI, Loft insulation, UFI and air tightness) ventilation, renewable technologies, (ASHP, GSHP, Solar 

Thermal, Solar PV & Battery Storage) and electrical heating systems, including metering and monitoring where 

necessary.  

In addition to PAS2035, the Framework scope includes general building improvement works that may be required 

as part of the energy efficiency project. This includes but is not limited to roofing (pitched and flat), structural 

repairs, component replacements (windows & doors, kitchens, and bathrooms) rewiring and external 

improvements such as ground works and landscaping. 

In addition to PAS2035 Fusion21 members may wish to utilise other Retrofit Standards and modelling such as 

EnerPhit, CarbonLite or Energisprong or equally approved models under this Framework.  

A detailed step by step guide to undertaking these works is not detailed within this specification. Suppliers must 

undertake design services with reasonable skill and care, specify materials and undertake workmanship that is ‘fit 

for purpose’.  

1.4. Legislation, Regulations and Standards   

All works must adhere to all relevant statutory legislation, regulations and codes of practice that apply to the 

geographical regions covered in this Framework.  

52



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

2 
 

• The Building Act 1984 C.55 

• The Building Regulations 2015 A - R 

• Town and Country Planning Act 1990 C.8 

• The Public Contract Regulations 2015 No.102 

• England and Wales – The Building Regulations (England and Wales)   

• Scotland – The Building (Scotland) Regulations 2004  

• Northern Ireland – The Building Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2012  

Health and Safety  

• The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 No.632 

• The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015, No. 51 

• The Electricity at Work Act 1987 No.635 

• The Work at Height Regulations 2005 No.735 

• Water Industry Act 1991 and the Water Supply (water fittings) Regulations 1999 

Environmental Standards  

• The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 No. 988 

• Control of Pollution Act 1974 c.44 

• Social Value Act 2012 c. 3 

• Health & Social Care Act 2008 

• Health and Social Care Act (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 

• Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009 

• Health and Social Care Act 2002 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 and the essential standards of 

Quality & Safety as specified in the Outcomes and Prompts 10 & 11 

• The Regulated Services (Wales) Regulations 2017 

• Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 

• National Care Standards Care Homes for Older People 

• The Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Registration) Regulation 2001 

• The Social Work and Social Care Improvement (Requirements for Care Services) Regulation 2011 

• Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 

Suppliers are required to adhere to the current latest version of the approved documents and technical 

standards for the regions that are applicable at the time of works over the term of this Framework Agreement. 

All works shall be carried out in accordance with British Standards specification and Codes of Practice, or 

equivalent ISO or EN Standard, current at the time of installation. All proposed retrofit works will need to be 

checked with Local Planning Authority and BS7913: Guide to the Conservation of Historic Buildings.   

1.5. Omissions and Errors 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the contents within this document are accurate and correct. If any 

anomalies or conflicts are found within, please revert to the statutory standards and/or PAS2035:2019 as these 

will take precedent over this performance specification.  

Any obsolete standards (i.e. following Brexit) do not apply and/or any superseded standards, the current version 

will take precedence during the term of this framework.  

53



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

3 
 

1.6. PAS2035:2019  

This specification is based upon appointed conformance with PAS2035:2019. The core principles being. 

• Professional Accountability  

• ‘Whole House’ 

• Bespoke Projects  

• Build Tight, Ventilate Right 

• Quality, Quality, Quality   

• Fabric First Retrofit  

 Options under this Framework enable the appointment of a supplier by either. 

• Contractor led design, installation and commissioning (Design & Build). 

• Client led design via ‘in house’ retrofit coordinator, assessor and designer or 3rd party representative 

(consultant) via a traditional procurement route. 

The specific roles and responsibilities for a Retrofit project will be agreed at the outset of a project. This may 

include the client (Fusion21 Member) undertaking some of the retrofit roles and responsibilities for a project.  

1.7. Surveying  

All surveying activities must carry out by suitably qualified and competent persons and in accordance with 

relevant bodies requirements e.g., RIBA, RICS, CIOB, CIBSE or other equally recognised industry organisation.  

1.8. Property Types (Archetypes) 

The Framework scope covers all types on domestic dwellings in UK built environment. This includes all forms of 

construction methods. These may be defined as follows... 

Traditional Construction – built in-situ, brick solid wall or hard to treat cavity walled properties, including but 
not limited to terrace properties, mid/end or back-to-back styles or other forms of traditionally constructed 
properties. 
  

Non-Traditional Construction – Prefabricated, built off-site properties which do not conform to current 

Building standards for energy performance. This includes but is not limited to, No-Fines, Airey Houses, BSIF or 

other alternative forms of construction. 

Multiple Occupancy Dwellings - Maisonettes or other similar type communal buildings (including high rise). 

Where required must undertake appropriate fire risk assessments for fire safety.   

1.9. Funding  

This Framework permits the inclusion of funding and both Fusion21 Members and suppliers are encouraged to 

access funding where applicable. The types of funding to be used under this Framework includes but is not limited 

to Government schemes, such as ECO, LAD, SHDF, HUG, RHI and/or 3rd party of other relevant funding streams 

available over the duration of this Framework. This includes funding which is specific Framework regions Wales, 

Scotland, or NI. 

1.10. Compliance & Monitoring  

Appointed suppliers will be expected to comply with all necessary requirements of any funding streams accessed 

for the delivery of retrofit works under this Framework. This included all the necessary reporting and monitoring 

and providing all required documentation for handover and audit purposes.  

54



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

4 
 

1.11. Private Sector Housing 

The challenge of meeting Net Zero Carbon by 2050 extends way beyond the social housing sector. Therefore, the 

Framework is accessible for private sector schemes which are being run by a contracting authority such as a Local 

Council or Housing Association or a collaboration of Members within a specific region. Marketing of private sector 

schemes is included within the pricing of this Framework Agreement.  

1.12. Marketing  

As part of the marketing activities suppliers may be required to collaborate with the Fusion21 Member to identify 

private sector properties. This will include providing marketing literature, written communication and were 

deemed applicable additional support staff to manage the marketing process and customer engagement. This may 

include ensuring any eligibility criteria is met by the customer as part of the funding requirements.     

1.13. Pricing  

This specification is to be used in conjunction with the pricing schedule. This specification is to be used in 

accordance with PAS2035:2019. Bidders are required to complete the pricing in accordance with instructions. All 

pricing is to include for consumable items and those required for a fully functioning compliant retrofit measure. 

Framework prices will be fixed for the first 12 months in accordance with Clause 22 of the Framework Agreement. 

Should there be a significant change in the market within the first 6 months of the Framework then Fusion21 will 

consider an evidence-based cost review after the first 6 months. 

1.14. Innovation  

During the term of this Framework suppliers are encouraged to provide innovative solutions to the challenges 

faced with Retrofitting the UK’s housing stock, in turn creating efficiencies and cost savings for Fusion21 Members 

and that benefits their residents.   

1.15. Sustainability 

Appointed suppliers will be expected to adhere to current best practice for sustainability. This includes 

responsible and ethical sourcing of both materials and labour over the term of this Framework.  

1.16. Collaboration 

Appointed suppliers to this Framework will be expected to work with Fusion21 Members collaboratively. This 

will include aiding assisting Members in achieving the best possible outcomes for the works delivered through 

this Framework  

1.17. Subcontracting  

Subcontracting is permitted under this Framework. Where possible, Fusion21 encourages suppliers to engage and 

work with the local supply chain within the geographical region of Member activity. . In some instances, suppliers 

will be required to hold ‘meet the buyer’ events as part of this engagement process.  

1.18.  Training and Employment  

Under this Framework agreement appointed suppliers are required to deliver social value outcomes, this includes 

creating employment and training opportunities in order to stimulate and grow the green economy. Under each 

individual call-off supplier’s will be required complete a social value delivery plan based upon the criteria set out 

in the Framework Agreement.   

55



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

5 
 

1.19. Case Studies  

To promote and report on innovation and best practice, suppliers may be required to collate and form a case study 

for the Members project. This should be agreed at the outset, but suppliers are encouraged to undertake this 

activity on every project delivered through this Framework. 

2. Design & Planning 

The design and planning of any retrofit measures must be done in accordance with PAS2035. This is to include 

the appointment of a Retrofit coordinator to manage and coordinator the process. 

Each dwelling will be subject to an assessment and retrofit plan. This plan will dictate which measures are required 

to be undertaken at each dwelling, this will also be driven by the Members budget and measures will be delivered 

on a ‘fabric first’ approach in order to reduce the heat load for each dwelling. The retrofit plan will provide the 

Members with trigger points for additional measures to be undertaken delivered in the future. 

When deemed suitable Members may wish to utilise the RIBA plan of works stages 1 to 4 as part of the retrofit 

project.   

2.1. Design at Call-off Stage  

Appointed suppliers may be required to undertake some pre-construction activities for design and planning. In 

this instance the call off contract will be pre-construction services agreement (e.g., JCT PCSA), with the purpose of 

surveying properties, designing solutions, preparing specifications and providing costs for the works in order for 

Members to optimise their budget ahead of the project. 

This approach is intended to provide Members with detailed accurate information of the dwellings prior to 

entering a main building contract. Any information or services paid for by the Fusion21 Member for these services 

will be transferred to the ownership of the Fusion21 member for them to retain and use this information as they 

see fit.  

To the extent that the standard of any Works has not been specified in this Contract, agree the relevant standard 
for the Works with the Member before their execution.  Where particular Works or working methods are to be 
“Approved by” “Agreed with” or are indicated to be “subject to the Approval of” the Member, give the Member 
adequate notice when such Approval or Agreement is needed and retain evidence of all Approvals given, and items 
that have been Agreed, by the Member. 

2.2. Surveying  

Suppliers may be required to undertake a varied range of surveying activities that are associated and required as 
part of a domestic retrofit project. The survey elements contained within the pricing schedule relate to typical 
surveying activities that may be carried out on a typical domestic dwelling. These should be priced accordingly.   

2.3. British Standards and Codes of Practice 

2.3.1. Ensure all Works undertaken, and all Materials used in those Works comply with all applicable British 
Standards and Codes of Practice and the Member’s Codes of Practice that are current at the time of 
their use. This includes ensuring compliance with the relevant Building Standards (i.e. Building 
Regulations) to the specific region of the Fusion21 Member (i.e. England & Wales, Northern Ireland, 
Scotland). 

 
2.3.2. Ensure all materials and systems specified are compliant and qualify for ECO funding, hold relevant 

certification, approvals and warranties as required under this scheme as set out by OFGEM. 
 

2.3.3. Ensure compliance with the standards set out by any given funding provider (e.g., BEIS) or 
Government backed, 3rd party funding provider. 

56



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

6 
 

 
2.3.4. References in this Specification of Workmanship and Materials to any International, European and/or 

British Standard or Code of Practice are to be construed as references to the version current at the 
time the order is undertaken. 

 
2.3.5. Where a specific British Standard or a Code of Practice is referred to, this sets out the minimum 

acceptable standard of Materials or Workmanship. 
 
2.3.6. A Service Provider offering a product based on compliance with any such approval shall notify the 

Member of all such substitutions in advance of placing any order and will be required to provide, in 
English, technical or other details of the approval and its qualifying tests. 

 
2.3.7. The Retrofit Coordinator must ensure all works are designed in accordance with ALL relevant 

legislation and standards. The design and application of any system must be in accordance with the 
manufacturers (i.e., system providers) instructions, and all relevant applicable standards. 

 
2.3.8. The supplier must appoint a structural engineer where the retrofit measure or associated works 

represent a significant change to the structure of the property. 
 
2.3.9. The design must ensure any unintended consequences are avoided through cold bridging and 

therefore must consider as part of the design, window reveals, roofline external services (gas or 
electric meter cupboards) and below DPC are factored into the design. 

 
2.3.10. The supplier must ensure the design of any insulation system does not impair the performance, 

operation or reduce the lifespan of any other building component or present a health and safety risk 
to the occupants.  (i.e. fire, electrical fixtures, boiler flues or ACM’s).  

 
2.3.11. Any external wall insulation system and all associated products must be an External Thermal 

Insulation Composite System certified by the BBA (or equivalent) and must meet all current Building 
Regulations as a minimum. 

 
2.3.12. The BBA (or equivalent) certificate must confirm that any insulation system is fit for its intended 

purpose, having been tested for the following: 
A) Technical Specification 
B) Manufacture 
C) Delivery and Site Handling 
D) General Design Considerations 
E) Practicability of Installation  
F) Thermal Performance 
G) Strength and Stability – wind loading, impact resistance 
H) Behaviour in Relation to Fire 
I) Proximity of Flues and Appliances 
J) Water Resistance 
K) Risk of Condensation – surface and interstitial  
L) Maintenance and Repair  
M) Durability 
N) Installation  

   

57



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

7 
 

3. Preliminaries and General Matters 

3.1. General 

Suppliers are required and expected to provide all necessary resource and management for the successful delivery 

of a retrofit project. This is to include all necessary roles for compliance with PAS2035:2019 and include a retrofit 

coordinator, retrofit assessor, retrofit designer and other experience and appropriately qualified construction 

staff. 

3.2. PAS2035:2019 

Appointed suppliers must adhere to PAS2035:2019. This includes ensuring the required roles for the coordination, 

assessment, and design of a retrofit project. 

It is envisaged all the projects delivered under this Framework will be categorised as ‘high risk’ under PAS235:2019, 

however a formal risk assessment will identify the project risk band.    

As part of the retrofit design process, a robust quality and risk management process must be implemented by the 

appointed supplier.  

3.3. PAS2030:2019 

The installation of a retrofit measure must conform with PAS2030:2019. This relates to the following retrofit 

activities: 

• Installation 

• Testing  

• Commissioning 

• Handover 

3.4. Resident Liaison  

Appointed suppliers must provide a Resident Liaison Officer (RLO) for any retrofit project to undertake resident 

engagement and communication. This will be for the term of the project.   

3.5. Statutory Approvals  

The Contractor has the overall responsibility to obtain the necessary Statutory Approvals for all proposed works. 
They are responsible for determining the Members obligations in relation to Planning Approval in each council 
area, for submitting the appropriate application forms and fees for both Planning (where necessary) and Building 
Regulations approval, and for allowing a reasonable period of time for these processes in their delivery 
programme. 

3.6. Health and Safety (CDM) 

Under this Framework Agreement and pricing schedule the appointed supplier is to include for undertaking the 

role of Principal Designer in accordance with the Construction, (Design & Management) Regulations 2015. 

This is to include for the preparation of a pre-construction (direct award only) and construction phase plan and 

oversee the project health & safety in accordance with CDM 2015. 

Where suppliers do not employ CDM Principal Designers ‘in house’ the supplier will be required to outsource this 

service as part of the project. When outsourcing this service, this must be to suitably qualified and competent 

person. Fusion21 Members have the right to request information, qualifications, and insurances of the proposed 

organisation/person to undertake this function/role. 

58



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

8 
 

The Supplier must have and follow robust health and safety policies in line with industry standards, to account for 

the works or services it is providing. 

The Supplier shall act as the Principal Contractor unless otherwise agreed and shall compile a Pre-Construction 

Phase Health and Safety Plan detailing how health and safety will be managed on site. The Supplier may also be 

required to act as the Principal Designer. 

The Supplier must provide its health and safety policy when requested and be willing to show evidence of how 

this policy is applied to its business and demonstrate how staff are appropriately trained to ensure the policy is 

put into practice at all times. The Supplier must also be able to demonstrate its compliance with, or willingness to 

adopt, the Member’s health and safety policies. 

The Supplier shall prepare and maintain suitable and sufficient written method statements and corresponding risk 

assessments. These shall be provided to the Member on request. The Supplier shall review and approve the Risk 

Assessments and Method Statements for its sub-contractors. The Supplier shall ensure sub-contractors place 

these same obligations on its own sub-contractors ad infinitum. 

The Supplier shall ensure suitable welfare facilities are available prior to commencement and throughout the 

contract. 

Where joint Health & Safety matters arrive the Supplier and the Member shall work together to review the risk 

implement appropriate control measures. 

3.7. Hours of Work 

Whenever possible, activity should be restricted to normal working hours or when necessary, due notice must be 

given to building users and neighbours of work necessary during unsociable times. 

Normal working hours will be between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00, Monday to Friday. The Supplier is to note 

that this may vary by Member organisation during Call-Off Contracts. 

Out of hours will be between the hours of 18:00 and 08:00 Monday to Friday and all-day Saturday and Sunday. 

Sunday working will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances and with prior written permission from the 

Contract Administrator. 

3.8. Call off Contracts 

Fusion21 Members may opt for various forms of call-off contract in accordance with Schedule 3 of the Framework 

Agreement.  

Members may wish to utilise a JCT 2016 Pre-Construction Services Agreement (or equivalent services agreement) 

where deemed appropriate in order to finalise the retrofit measures, technical standards and design ahead of a 

retrofit project. In this instance suppliers may enter into a pre-construction services agreement to determine what 

applicable measures are to be carried out and undertake design and costings prior to entering a main call-off 

contract (e.g., JCT IFC). 

For the purposes of this pricing document bidders are to price based upon a JCT 2016 Intermediate form with 

contractor’s design, standard form of Contract (unamended). 

 

The applied commercial model will be subject to Fusion21 Members call off method. A further competition call-

off will be a bespoke pricing matrix. 

 

59



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

9 
 

For a direct award appointed suppliers there will be an expectation that Framework rates are adhered too. Where 

the Members scope varies from the rates within the Framework, appointed suppliers will be expected to 

demonstrate ‘value for money’ through an open book cost model. 

3.9. Social Value Reporting 

The Supplier is required to monitor and report to Fusion21 the social benefit or Social Return on Investment as a 

result of services or works provided by the Supplier as stated in the Framework Agreement. 

3.10. Insurance  

Under this Framework Fusion21 supplier will be required to hold as a minimum the following level of insurance. 

• Public Liability £5M 

• Employers’ liability £10M 

• Product Liability £10M 

• PI insurance £1M 

The level of PI cover required is from the aggerate for any one period of insurance.    

Where a Fusion21 Member dictates that a higher level of insurance is required, this will be communicated via 

Fusion21 on a project-by-project basis. For the purposes of this ITT bidders must adhere to insurance levels above.  

3.11. Limitation of Liability 

Under this Framework, where appointed suppliers wishing to limit their liability on a call off contract must seek 

approval to do so from the Fusion21 Member. As a minimum, this must not be less than the call off contract value, 

but this will ultimately be the Members decision when accessing the Framework.  

3.12. Accreditations  

The Framework requires appointed supplier to hold the following accreditations for undertaking energy efficient 

measures. 

• TrustMark 

• PAS2035:2019 

• Microgeneration Certification Scheme (“MCS”) for Heat Pumps. 

• Microgeneration Certification Scheme (“MCS”) for Solar Photovoltaic Systems 

• Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) – Solar Thermal 

• Part P Electrical Safety Scheme 

• Gas Safe 

• OFTEC 

• WRAS Accreditation 

It is the appointed supplier’s responsibility to ensure these accreditations are maintained and kept over the term 

of this Framework and any new standards over the term are met. Suppliers may be required to evidence these 

accreditations to Fusion21 Members upon request. 

3.13. Guarantees 

All installations and works carried out by the Supplier under a Call-Off Contract shall be guaranteed from the 

date of installation, completion or removal for a period of twelve months up to and after the end of the 

Framework Agreement or Call-Off Contract period, whichever is sooner. 

60



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

10 
 

The guarantee on installations, which will be provided by Supplier without additional cost to the Member, shall 

cover all costs inclusive of transport, labour, materials and parts to allow systems to become fully operational 

and safe. 

3.14. Warranties 

All works installed under this Framework must provide the Fusion21 Member with an appropriate warranty. This 

includes: 

3.14.1. Solid Wall Insulation Guarantee (SWIGA) 

3.14.2. Cavity Wall Insulation Guarantee (CIGA) 

3.14.3. Microgeneration Certification Scheme (“MCS certificate”) 

3.15. Performance Monitoring  

Appointed supplier must adhere to the Key performance indicators set out in Appendix 2 of the ITT. 

Appointed Suppliers may also be required to provide performance and monitoring information during and upon 

completion of the specified works. The supplier must also adhere to the requirements set out in any 3rd party 

funding agreement and provide the relevant bodies with the required information in the specified format.  

The Supplier, with contribution from the Member, shall continually monitor performance of the works against the 

key performance indicators (KPIs) to ensure performance to required target levels with provision for continued 

improvement. The KPIs shall be outlined within the ‘Employer’s Requirements’. 

The performance of the Supplier shall be kept under continual review by the Member to monitor continuous 

improvement by reference to the KPIs.  

Where problems are identified in achievement of KPIs at any time the party identifying such problem shall 

immediately notify such problems to the other parties in writing with constructive proposals for their resolution 

and the parties shall consider such proposals through regular review meetings. 

Where problems cannot be resolved through the a review procedure and particularly where there is a persistent 

failure to achieve any one or more of the agreed Key Performance Indicators, then the parties shall meet to review 

their position and establish such alternative arrangements as may be necessary to meet their reasonable joint and 

individual requirements. 

The Supplier shall maintain and keep detailed documentation to evidence how they have been calculated. 

3.16. Waste Management & Recycling 

All site waste must be disposed of in a safe and compliant manner. Where possible waste must be recycled to 

minimise waste to landfill. A site waste management plan must be provided when requested by the Fusion21 

Member.  

 

Any residual scarp value from materials removed from site must be notified to the Fusion21 Member and recorded 

within the site waste management plan. This includes waste generated from the decommissioning of any gas, oil, 

or electrical heating systems.    

Upon completion of any operation or at the end of each working day, whichever is the sooner, the Supplier shall 

remove from site all rubbish and waste materials. All waste material shall be taken only to authorised disposal, 

treatment and whenever possible, recycling facilities, at the expense of the Supplier. All unwanted materials 

removed from site shall become the property of the Supplier unless otherwise specified. 

61



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

11 
 

Fusion21 is committed to the provision of services that adopt good practice in terms of environmental 

sustainability. The Supplier shall therefore be required to make every effort to apply the waste hierarchy to 

prevent waste and to apply the hierarchy as a priority order when transferring waste. The waste hierarchy is set 

out at Article 4 of the revised Waste Framework (Directive 2008/98/EC). 

3.17. Other Hazardous Materials 

The Supplier shall comply with the Member’s policies with regard to the use of certain chemicals, materials and 

hazardous substances which may be inspected upon application to the Member. The Supplier will be expected to 

carry out all works according to these policies, current legislation and Codes of Practice with regards to the Safe 

Use of Chemicals and Hazardous Substances. The COSHH Regulations of 1990 and the Health and Safety at Work 

Act 1974 shall apply at all times. 

4. Fabric Measures  

4.1. External Wall Insulation (“EWI”) 

4.2. General Requirements 

The application of an EWI system is likely to make the dwelling more air-tight, effecting its ventilation, air quality, 

humidity and comfort levels. When considering proposals for solid wall insulation, in accordance with PAS2035 

the retrofit designer must also assess the current ventilation provision in accordance with Building Regulations 

(for the relevant region) and the ventilation section of this specification. The retrofit designer must make 

recommendations for any additional measures necessary. All proposed designs must be approved by the Retrofit 

designer.  

The scope of an EWI installation may include for the removal and reinstatement but is not limited to roofing and 

roofline, rainwater goods, soil stack, structural repairs, window and door replacements, canopy/balcony repairs, 

mechanical and electrical works, decoration, and associated improvement works.   

4.3. Workmanship and Specification 

 

4.4. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS2035:2019 

62



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

12 
 

• In accordance with Good Industry Practice; 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies; 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice; in accordance with any specific requirements for those 
Works in this specification; and to the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 

 

• Certified by the British Board of Agrément (BBA) or BRE or equivalent UKAS accredited certification body. 
 

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements BS EN ISO 13788 - Hygrothermal performance of 
building components and building elements. Internal surface temperature to avoid critical surface humidity 
and interstitial condensation. 

 

• BS EN ISO 10211 - Thermal bridges in building construction. Heat flows and surface temperatures. 
 

• BS EN ISO 13789 - Thermal performance of buildings. Transmission and ventilation heat transfer coefficients.  

• BRE BR 262 – Thermal Insulation: avoiding risks. 
 

• BS 5250 – Code of Practice for the Control of Condensation in Buildings. BS EN 13162 2012+A1:2015- Thermal 
insulation products for buildings. Factory made mineral wool (MW) products.  

 

• BS EN 13163:2012+A2:2016 Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of expanded 
polystyrene (EPS). Specification 

 

• BS EN 13164:2008 Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of extruded polystyrene 
foam (XPS) - Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13165:2008- Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made rigid polyurethane foam (PUR) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13166:2008 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of phenolic foam (PF). 
BS EN 13167:2001 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made cellular glass (CG) products. 
Specification 

 

• BS EN 13166:2012+A2:2016- Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products 
manufactured from wood fibre (WF) products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13499:2003 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. External Thermal insulation composite 
systems (ETICS) based on expanded polystyrene. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13500:2003 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. External Thermal insulation composite 
systems (ETICS) based on mineral wool Specification 

4.5. Fabric Measures Cavity Wall (CWI) and Loft Insulation 

4.6. General Requirements  

The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for the 
specified CWI or Loft insulation systems, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. 
All orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 
accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 

63

http://www.bbacerts.co.uk/
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030301869
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030169538
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030169541


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

13 
 

4.7. Workmanship and Specification 

4.8. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS 2035:2019  

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements 

• in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 
 

• Be certified by BBA ((British Board of Agrément), BRE or equivalent UKAS accredited certification body for 
compliance with current Building regulations plus all relevant British Standards and Code of Practices relating 
to mechanical resistance and stability, determination of density, thermal performance, properties in relation 
to fire, vapor transmission, moisture penetration, risk of interstitial condensation, etc. 

 

• BS EN 12664:2001- Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Dry and moist products of medium 
and low thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12667:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12939:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods. Thick products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or alternatively BS EN ISO 8990:1996 - Thermal insulation - Determination of steady-state 
thermal transmission properties - Calibrated and guarded hot box. 

 

• BS 5803-2:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for man-made 
mineral fibre thermal insulation in pellet or granular form for application by blowing. 

 

• BS 5803-3:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for cellulose fibre 

64

http://www.bbacerts.co.uk/
http://www.standardsuk.com/products/BS-EN-12939-2001.php


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

14 
 

thermal insulation for application by blowing.  
 

• BS 5803-5:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for installation 
of man-made mineral fibre and cellulose fibre insulation.  

 

• BS 4841-3:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roofboards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under built up bituminous roofing membranes 

 
 

• BS 4841-4:2006 Rigid polyurethane (PUR) and polyisocyanurate (PIR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated insulation boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately 
bonded facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under non-bituminous single-ply roofing membranes 

 

• BS 4841-5:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as thermal insulation boards for pitched roofs 

 

• BS EN 13162:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made mineral wool (MW) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13163:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of expanded 
polystyrene (EPS). Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13164:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of extruded 
polystyrene foam (XPS) - Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13165:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made rigid polyurethane 
foam (PUR) products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13166:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of phenolic 
foam (PF). BS EN 13167:2001 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made cellular glass (CG) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13171:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products 
manufactured from wood fibre (WF) products. Specification. 

 

• Be HCFC and HFC free, plus have a global warming potential (GWP) of less than 5 
 

• Be biodegradable and/or recyclable at the end of their life and must not have any special end of life disposal 
requirements, such as incineration.  

 

4.9. Fabric Measures Internal Wall Insulation (IWI) 

4.10. General Requirements  

The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for the 
specified internal wall insulation system, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. 
All orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 
accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 

 

65

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030301869


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

15 
 

4.11. Workmanship and Specification 
 

4.12. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS2035:2019 (or current version) 

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements 

• in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 
 

• Be certified by BBA ((British Board of Agrément), BRE or equivalent UKAS accredited certification body for 
compliance with current Building regulations plus all relevant British Standards and Code of Practices 
relating to mechanical resistance and stability, determination of density, thermal performance, properties 
in relation to fire, vapor transmission, moisture penetration, risk of interstitial condensation, etc. 

 

• BS EN 12664:2001- Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Dry and moist products of 
medium and low thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12667:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12939:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods. Thick products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or alternatively BS EN ISO 8990:1996 - Thermal insulation - Determination of steady-
state thermal transmission properties - Calibrated and guarded hot box 

 

• BS 5803-2:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for man-made 
mineral fibre thermal insulation in pellet or granular form for application by blowing. 

 

• BS 5803-3:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for cellulose 

66

http://www.bbacerts.co.uk/
http://www.standardsuk.com/products/BS-EN-12939-2001.php


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

16 
 

fibre thermal insulation for application by blowing.  
 

• BS 5803-5:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for installation 
of man-made mineral fibre and cellulose fibre insulation.  

 

• BS 4841-3:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roofboards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under built up bituminous roofing membranes 

 
 

• BS 4841-4:2006 Rigid polyurethane (PUR) and polyisocyanurate (PIR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated insulation boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately 
bonded facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under non-bituminous single-ply roofing 
membranes 

 

• BS 4841-5:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as thermal insulation boards for pitched roofs 

 

• BS EN 13162:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made mineral wool (MW) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13163:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of expanded 
polystyrene (EPS). Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13164:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of extruded 
polystyrene foam (XPS) - Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13165:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made rigid polyurethane 
foam (PUR) products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13166:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of phenolic 
foam (PF). BS EN 13167:2001 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made cellular glass (CG) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13171:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products 
manufactured from wood fibre (WF) products. Specification. 

 

• Be HCFC and HFC free, plus have a global warming potential (GWP) of less than 5 
 

• Be biodegradable and/or recyclable at the end of their life and must not have any special end of life disposal 
requirements, such as incineration.  

 

4.13. Fabric Measures Underfloor Insulation (UFI) 
 
4.14. General Requirements  

The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for 
the specified internal wall insulation system, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and 
payment. All orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and 
installation in accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 

 

67

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030301869


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

17 
 

4.15. Workmanship and Specification 
 

4.16. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS2035:2019 (or current version) 

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements 

• in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 

• Be certified by BBA ((British Board of Agrément), BRE or equivalent UKAS accredited certification body for 
compliance with current Building regulations plus all relevant British Standards and Code of Practices 
relating to mechanical resistance and stability, determination of density, thermal performance, properties 
in relation to fire, vapor transmission, moisture penetration, risk of interstitial condensation, etc. 

 

• BS EN 12664:2001- Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Dry and moist products of 
medium and low thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12667:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods - Products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or  

 

• BS EN 12939:2001 - Thermal performance of building materials and products - Determination of thermal 
resistance by means of guarded hot plate and heat flow meter methods. Thick products of high and medium 
thermal resistance; or alternatively BS EN ISO 8990:1996 - Thermal insulation - Determination of steady-
state thermal transmission properties - Calibrated and guarded hot box 

 

• BS 5803-2:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for man-made 
mineral fibre thermal insulation in pellet or granular form for application by blowing. 

 

• BS 5803-3:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for cellulose 
fibre thermal insulation for application by blowing.  

68

http://www.bbacerts.co.uk/
http://www.standardsuk.com/products/BS-EN-12939-2001.php


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

18 
 

 

• BS 5803-5:1985 Thermal insulation for use in pitched roof spaces in dwellings. Specification for installation 
of man-made mineral fibre and cellulose fibre insulation.  

 

• BS 4841-3:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roofboards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under built up bituminous roofing membranes 

 

• BS 4841-4:2006 Rigid polyurethane (PUR) and polyisocyanurate (PIR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated insulation boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately 
bonded facings for use as roof board thermal insulation under non-bituminous single-ply roofing 
membranes 

 

• BS 4841-5:2006 Rigid polyisocyanurate (PIR) and polyurethane (PUR) products for building end-use 
applications. Specification for laminated boards (roof boards) with auto-adhesively or separately bonded 
facings for use as thermal insulation boards for pitched roofs 

 

• BS EN 13162:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made mineral wool (MW) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13163:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of expanded 
polystyrene (EPS). Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13164:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of extruded 
polystyrene foam (XPS) - Specification. 

 

• BS EN 13165:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made rigid polyurethane 
foam (PUR) products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13166:2012+A2:2016. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products of phenolic 
foam (PF). BS EN 13167:2001 - Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made cellular glass (CG) 
products. Specification 

 

• BS EN 13171:2012+A1:2015. Thermal insulation products for buildings. Factory made products 
manufactured from wood fibre (WF) products. Specification. 

 

• Be HCFC and HFC free, plus have a global warming potential (GWP) of less than 5 
 

• Be biodegradable and/or recyclable at the end of their life and must not have any special end of life disposal 
requirements, such as incineration.  

5. Ventilation Systems 

5.1. General Requirements 

Consideration to ventilation will be required when undertaking retrofit measures. There are various forms of 
ventilation systems. The type of ventilation will be dependent upon the measures installed, but may include, but 
is not limited to the following… 

• Continuous Extraction fans  

• Intermediate Extract Fans  

• Mechanical ventilation Heat recovery systems (MVHR)  

• Positive input ventilation systems 

69

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030301869


  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

19 
 

• Trickle ventilation to windows  

• Soffit or roof tile vents 

• Underfloor ventilation 

• Wall ventilation  
 

5.2. The supplier will be required to provide the best solution for the archetype in accordance with the 
requirements set out in PAS2035:2019. 
 

5.3. The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for 

the specified ventilation systems, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. All 

orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 

accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 

 

5.4. The supplier will be required to provide the best solution for the archetype in accordance with the 
requirements set out in PAS2035:2019. 

 

5.5. Workmanship and Specification 

5.6. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS 2035:2019 

• BBA approved materials. 

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements 

• in accordance with current Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 

70



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

20 
 

6. Renewable Heating Systems 

6.1. Air/Ground Source and High Efficiency Electric Heating 

6.2. General Requirements 

6.3. As part of any retrofit plan there may be a requirement to renew the existing heating system with a new low 
carbon heating system. This may include the following types of heating systems. 

• Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) 

• Ground Source Heat Pump (GSHP) 

• High Efficiency Electrical Heating 

• Solar Thermal (Hot water heating)   
 

6.4. The retrofit designer will need to consider any thermal fabric improvements when selecting and sizing the 
appropriate form of heating system for the dwelling. 
 

6.5. The supplier must ensure that any renewable air/ground source heating system is designed in accordance 
with the Microgeneration certification (MCS) scheme and all applicable regulations and standards associated 
with the design, installation and commissioning of a renewable heating system. 

 

6.6. High efficiency electrical heating systems is defined as electrical heating that has sufficient controls to operate 
efficiently and at lower running cost to the resident than the previous heating system.  

 

 

6.7. The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for 
the specified heating system, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. All 
orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 
accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 

6.8. Workmanship and Specification 

6.9. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• In accordance with PAS 2035:2019 (or current version) 

• BBA approved materials. 

• CIBSE Design guide for Domestic Heating Systems 

71



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

21 
 

• In accordance with any funding providers requirements 

• In accordance with BS7671:2018 Wiring Regulations 

• in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably). 
 
              Air Source  
 

• Carry the CE Mark of European Conformity, to confirm compliance with EU consumer safety, health and 
environmental requirements. 

 

• Consist of a single factory-built unit (or, for split systems, consist of a matched pair of ‘indoor’ and 
‘outdoor’ units from the same manufacturer, designed to work together) incorporating an electrically 
driven refrigeration system. 

 

• Incorporate refrigerant with zero Ozone Depletion Potential (ODP) (i.e. R407C) in accordance with BS 
EN 378. 

 

• Incorporate insulation on refrigerant pipework in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions and 
recommendations 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-4: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Requirements. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-2: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Test conditions. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 378-2: 2008 +A1: 2009 – Refrigerating systems and heat pumps. Safety and 
environmental requirements. Design, construction, testing, marking and documentation. 

 

• Be designed for, and include fittings for, permanent installation. 
 

• Be capable of supplying domestic hot water (if used for this purpose) in the range 60oC to 65oC. 
 

• Have manufacturers rated heating Coefficients of Performance (CoP), measured in accordance with BS 
EN 14511, at 100% (full) load. 

 

• Incorporate control of:  room air temperature (if not provided separately); outdoor fan operation; 
defrosting of external evaporator units; protection against high refrigerant pressure and indoor or 
outdoor air flow failure. 

 

• External heat exchangers must: 
 

• Be sized to suit the heat pump, taking account of the intended output of the system and the local 
microclimatic conditions (especially winter temperatures). 

 

• Be located not less than 600 mm from any building or obstruction that would restrict the flow of air 
through the unit. 

 

72



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

22 
 

• Incorporate external pipework insulation in accordance with TIMSA guidance. 
 

• Be securely fixed in place (not to the walls of a building) and provided with all necessary safety guards 
and barriers to prevent interference and damage by people or vehicles. 

 

• Product standards – exhaust air heat pumps 
 

• Exhaust air heat pump units must: 
 

• Carry the CE Mark of European Conformity, to confirm compliance with EU consumer safety, health and 
environmental requirements. 

 

• Consist of a single factory-built unit incorporating an electrically driven refrigeration system. 
 

• Incorporate refrigerant with zero Ozone Depletion Potential (ODP) (i.e. R407C) in accordance with BS 
EN 378 and EU Directive 2037: 2000. 

 

• Incorporate insulation on refrigerant pipework in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions and 
recommendations. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-4: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Requirements. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-2: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Test conditions. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 378-2: 2008 +A1: 2009 – Refrigerating systems and heat pumps. Safety and 
environmental requirements. Design, construction, testing, marking and documentation. 

 

• Be designed for, and include fittings for, permanent installation. 
 

• Be capable of supplying domestic hot water (if used for this purpose) in the range 60oC to 65oC. 

• Incorporate control of:  room air temperature (if not provided separately);  and protection against high 
refrigerant pressure and indoor air flow failure. 

 

• Have manufacturers rated heating Coefficients of Performance (CoP), measured in accordance with BS 
EN 14511, at 100% (full) load. 

 

• Have manufacturers’ rated Energy Efficiency Ratios (EERs), if used in cooling mode, at 100% (full) load, 
as set out in the table below. 

 

• VRF = variable refrigerant flow 
 

Ground source 
 

• Carry the CE Mark of European Conformity, to confirm compliance with EU consumer safety, health and 
environmental requirements. 

 

• Consist of single factory-built units incorporating electrically driven refrigeration systems, for 
connection to separate indirect, closed-loop ground heat exchangers. 

 

• Incorporate refrigerant with zero Ozone Depletion Potential (ODP) (i.e. R407C) in accordance with BS 

73



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

23 
 

EN 378. 
 

• Comply with ISO 13256-1:1998 – Water source heat pumps – Testing and rating for performance – Part 
1: Water-to-air and brine-to-air 

 

• Comply with ISO 13256-1:1998 – Water source heat pumps – Testing and rating for performance – Part 
2: Water-to-water and brine-to-water. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-4: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Requirements. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 14511-2: 2007 – Air conditioners, liquid chilling packages and heat pumps with 
electrically driven compressors for space heating and cooling. Test conditions. 

 

• Comply with BS EN 378-2: 2008 +A1: 2009 – Refrigerating systems and heat pumps. Safety and 
environmental requirements. Design, construction, testing, marking and documentation. 

 

• Have a manufacturer’s rated minimum heating Coefficient of Performance (CoP) not less than 4.2, 
measured in accordance with BS EN 14511, with output temp at 35°C1. 

 

• Have manufacturers’ rated Energy Efficiency Ratios (EERs), if used in cooling mode, not less than 3.2 at 
100% (full) load. 

 

• Be designed for, and include fittings for, permanent installation. 
 

• Provide supply water temperatures for under-floor heating in the range 30oC to 40oC for installations 
in new buildings, or 30oC to 55oC installations in existing buildings; or for radiators in the range 40oC to 
55oC. 

 

• Be capable of supplying domestic hot water (if used for this purpose) in the range 60oC to 65oC. 
 

• Ground heat exchangers must: 
 

• Consist of water or brine circulated by electric pumps either through pipes in vertical boreholes or 
through horizontal pipes buried in trenches. 

• Be sized to suit the heat pump and the ground conditions2;  boreholes may be single or multiple, but 
no borehole may be less than 65 m deep, and single boreholes must not be less than 100 m deep;  
multiple boreholes must be spaced apart at least 10% of their depth or at least 7 m (whichever is the 
greater);  horizontal loops must be in ‘snake’ layout (not ‘slinky’ layout), with pipes buried at least 2 m 
below the surface of the ground and spaced at least 1 m apart3. 

 

• Incorporate insulation on external pipework between the dwelling and heat exchanger, in accordance 
with TIMSA guidance. 

 

• Be cleaned with cleaning fluid and biocide as part of the commissioning process; and during operation 
be protected with anti-freeze solution and inhibitor as recommended by the heat pump manufacturer. 

 

 
 

 

 

74



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

24 
 

7. Solar Photovoltaic Systems  

7.1. General Requirements 

As part of any retrofit plan there may be a requirement to install a solar photovoltaic system (solar PV) to 
the dwelling. This will may include above roof mounted panels or integrated panels as part of a roof 
replacement.  

7.2. The installation of solar PV will be subject to the size and orientation of the dwelling roof. The design, 
installation must be carried out in accordance with the applicable standards and regulations as detailed 
within. 
 

7.3. The Supplier must be a registered Microgeneration Certification Scheme (“MCS”) Installer for solar 
photovoltaic systems. The supplier must keep this in place for the term of the Framework. 

 

 
7.4. The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for 

the specified solar PV system, including but not limited to; surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. All 
orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 
accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 
 

7.5. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• IET wiring regulations, BS7671:2018 requirements for Electrical Installations.  

• In accordance with PAS 2035:2019 

• BBA approved materials. 

• in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 

• in accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• in accordance with the Member’s Policies. 

• in accordance with the Member’s Codes of Practice. 

• in accordance with any specific requirements for those Works in this specification; and 

• To the satisfaction of the Member (acting reasonably) 

• BRE Digest 346 and BS EN 1991-1-1:2002 

• All Electrical Installations must be designed in accordance with the District Network Operators (DNO) 
grid connection requirements, as set out in the engineering requirements G98. 

 

75



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

25 
 

• BS EN 62446-1:2016 Photovoltaic (PV) Systems. 

• Installation must comply with Building Regulations, Approved document A (Structure) Roof Loading and 
Wind lift as BRE Digest 346 and BS EN 1991-1-1:2002. 

 

• In accordance with the IET Code of Practice for Grid Connected Solar Photovoltaic Systems: Design, 
specification, Installation, Commissioning, operation and maintenance. 

 

• The Installation must comply with BS EN 62446-1:2016 Photovoltaic (PV) Systems. 
 

• Installation must comply with Building Regulations, Approved document A (Structure) Roof Loading and 
Wind lift as BRE Digest 346 and BS EN 1991-1-1:2002. 

 

• The Installation must comply with BS EN 62446-1:2016 Photovoltaic (PV) Systems. 
 

• Installation must comply with Building Regulations, Approved document A (Structure) Roof Loading and 
Wind lift as BRE Digest 346 and BS EN 1991-1-1:2002. 

 

• The fixing system must be designed in accordance with MCS 012 Product certification Scheme 
Requirements: Pitched Roof installation kits, issue 1.1 

 

• MCS:005 Product Certification Scheme Requirements: Solar Photovoltaic Modules, issue 2.3. 
 

• Carry the CE Mark of European Conformity, to confirm compliance with EU consumer safety, health and 
environmental requirements. 

 

• Carry the BSI Kitemark. 
 

• Comply with BS EN 61215-1:2016. Terrestrial photovoltaic (PV) modules. Design qualification and type 
approval. Test requirements 

 

• Comply with BS EN 61215-1-3:2017– Terrestrial photovoltaic (PV) modules. Design qualification and 
type approval. Special requirements for testing of thin-film amorphous silicon based photovoltaic (PV) 
modules 

 

• Be safety tested to BS EN IEC 61730-1:2018-Photovoltaic (PV) module safety qualification. Requirements 
for construction 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



  

Lot 1– WHOLE HOUSE DECARBONISATION 

26 
 

8. Improvement Works   

8.1. General Requirements 

8.2. As part of any retrofit plan there may be a requirement to undertake improvement works to a dwelling as 
part of the energy efficiency measures. These improvement works may include both internal and external 
refurbishment works that includes but is not limited to roofing (flat and pitched), kitchens and bathroom 
replacements, electrical rewiring and inspection and testing and structural alterations. 
 

8.3. The Supplier will be responsible for the design, supply and installation of all materials and components for 
the specified solar PV system, including but not limited to, surveying, ordering, delivery and payment. All 
orders are to be placed and managed to ensure that all materials are available for supply and installation in 
accordance with the supplier’s programme of works and to consider all material lead times. 
 

8.4. Standards of Workmanship and Materials 
 

• Carry out and complete all Works: 

• In accordance with the applicable statutory Regulations; (for applicable region) 

• Approved Document 7: Materials and Workmanship 

• Approved Document A: Structure 

• Approved Document B: Fire Safety  

• Approved Document C: Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminates and Moisture  

• Approved Document D: Toxic Substances 

• Approved Document E: Resistance to Sound 

• Approved Document F: Ventilation  

• Approved Document G: Sanitation, Hot Water Safety and Water Efficiency  

• Approved Document H: Drainage and Waste Disposal 

• Approved Document J: Combustion Appliances and Fuel Storage Systems 

• Approved Document K: Protection from Falling, Collison and Impact  

• Approved Document L1B: Conservation of Fuel and Power 

• Approved Document M: Access and Use of Buildings  

• Approved Document P: Electrical Safety 

• Approved Document Q: Security in Dwellings 

• IET wiring regulations, BS7671:2018 requirements for Electrical Installations.  

• BBA approved materials. 
 

 

END OF DOCUMENT 

77



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 
13 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Linda Wootten  
Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Governance and Licensing  
 
 

 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (Vehicle Age at First Licence) 
 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection  

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk   
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
At their meeting of 12 July 2022 Cabinet resolved to further review the vehicle age 
requirements for first licensing of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 
 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1.  Review the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy upon publication of the results of the 
Department for Transport’s consultation on the revised Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities in England. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

79

Agenda Item 8



Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? Yes 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Healthy and strong communities 
 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 
1.  Implications 
 
Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 
governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 
community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 
declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 
identified: 
 
Finance and Procurement  
 
1.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

Legal and Governance 
 
1.2 Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, a district 

council may attach to the grant of a licence of a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle such conditions as the district council may consider reasonably necessary.  
 

1.3 The approval of the Policy is an Executive function of the Council. 
  

1.4 At the meeting on 12 July 2022 Cabinet agreed to review the position in 3 months.  
The Council entered a pre-election period in October 2022.  The pre-election 
restrictions are governed by Section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986, as this 
is a matter relating to policy and the main member of the public who raised this 
issue was a candidate, it was not appropriate for the matter to be reviewed during 
this period.  

 
Reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 
 
 
 
 

80



Is an Equality Impact Assessment required?  
 
The vehicle age criterion does not have specific negative impacts on groups from any of 
the protected characteristics.  An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken as part of 
the review of the policy in 2020/21.  
 
Climate Change 
 
1.5 The age of a vehicle has an impact on the level of exhaust emissions. The current 

Euro 6 standard took full effect from September 2016.  The Euro 7 standard is 
expected to be implemented from 2025, with the sale of new petrol and diesel cars 
being phased out by Government by 2030.  From 2035, all new cars must be zero 
emissions at the tailpipe, therefore, in the longer term, the taxi trade will have to 
transition to zero emission vehicles. 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 
2.1 The current South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy (“the Policy”) was approved by Cabinet on 12 January 2021.  The 
Policy took effect on 1 April 2021, with the exception of the reduction in vehicle 
age at first licensing from 7 to 5 years, which took effect on 1 October 2021. The 
delay in the implementation of this element of the policy was intended to give the 
taxi trade an opportunity to plan for the change. Once a vehicle is licenced it can 
continue to be renewed until it reaches the age of 10 years (12 years in the case 
of wheelchair accessible and low/zero emission vehicles).  Part 2, paragraph 2.4 
of the Policy refers to the maximum age of vehicles. 

 
2.2 The Department for Transport (DfT) recently consulted on proposed changes to 

the Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities in England.  The draft guidance is non statutory but includes proposals 
relating to vehicle age and more targeted approaches to meet relevant policy 
objectives, such as on emissions, safety rating and increasing wheelchair 
accessible provision where this is low. The consultation closed on 20 June 2022; 
the response has not yet been published.  

 
2.3 On 12 July 2022, Cabinet considered a recommendation from the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee to urgently review the vehicle age at first 
licensing aspect of the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
policy, paying special regard to the vehicle age five-year rule.   

 
2.4 On 12 July 2022, Cabinet resolved that: 
 

1. No changes be made to the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Policy at this time and a review be undertaken upon publication of the results 
of the Department for Transport’s consultation on the revised Taxi and Private 

81



Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in 
England. 

 
2.   The Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 

Licensing writes to the government minister responsible to seek confirmation 
as to when the Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice 
Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England will be published. 

 
3.   The position be reviewed in three months, with a view to adopting the 

Government’s best practice. 
 

2.5 The Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing wrote to The Rt 
Hon Grant Shapps MP, Secretary of State for Transport on 28 July 2022. As no 
response was received, The Leader of the Council wrote to Gareth Davies MP for 
Grantham and Stamford on 13 October 2022. 

  
2.6 A response was received on 27 October 2022 advising that the Department for 

Transport is progressing the work as quickly as possible but is unable to provide a 
specific date at this time.  The response is at Appendix 1.  

 
2.7 Cabinet resolved to review the position three months after the July meeting with a 

view to adopting the Government’s best practice. This period has elapsed, and the 
consultation response and final Best Practice Guidance has not been published. 

 
2.8 The draft guidance acknowledges that most Licensing Authorities currently have a 

policy which focuses on the age of a vehicle. The age limits of vehicles at first 
licence for Lincolnshire and other neighbouring licensing authorities are shown in 
table 1.  

 
 

Licensing Authority Hackney Carriage Vehicles  

Maximum Age at First 
Licence (Years) 

Private Hire Vehicles  

Maximum Age at First 
Licence (Years) 

Peterborough City Council 3 (must be wheelchair 
accessible) 

6 (with maximum mileage 
condition) 

Newark and Sherwood 4 (7 for wheelchair 
accessible) 

4 (7 for wheelchair 
accessible) 

North East Lincolnshire  5 5 

South Kesteven District 
Council 

5  5 

South Holland 5  None set   

Melton Borough Council 6 6 

North Kesteven 7 7 

82



North Lincolnshire 8 8 

City of Lincoln  Minimum of Euro 5 for new 
vehicles (must be London 
cab style or Multi-Purpose 
Vehicle) 

Minimum of Euro 5 for 
new vehicles  

Boston Borough Council None set None set 

East Lindsey District Council None set  None set 

Rutland County Council None set None set 

West Lindsey  None set None set  

 
 
2.9 In September 2021, prior to the implementation of the revised vehicle age policy in 

October 2021, there were 306 vehicles and 354 drivers licenced by the Authority.  
One year on, in September 2022 this stood at 314 vehicles and 362 drivers.    

 
3. Key Considerations 
 
3.1 The draft Department for Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best 

Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England is non statutory; however, 
it is intended to assist licensing authorities in formulating their policy.  

 
3.2 Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Licensing 

Authorities may attach to the grant of a licence of a hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle such conditions as the they may consider reasonably necessary.  

 
3.3 The Government response to the consultation has not yet been published and no 

date for the response is available.  
 

4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1 The following alternative options are available to the Cabinet: 

 
1. Amend the Policy to alter or remove the current vehicle age criterion for 

newly licensed vehicles.  
 
2. Amend the Policy based on the draft best practice guidance, introducing an 

emissions-based criterion for newly licensed vehicles.  
 
5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
5.1 The adoption of the South Kesteven District Council Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing Policy is an Executive function of the Council. 
 

83



5.2 The Government has not yet published a response to the consultation and the 
current draft Best Practice Guidance may be subject to change.  

 
5.3 All elements of the existing Policy will be reviewed in full following the publication 

of the revised Department for Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 
Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England.   Any changes made 
prior to the final guidance may result in subsequent alterations to the same 
elements of the policy.  

 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 Although not required by legislation, consultation was undertaken as part of the 

adoption of the current Policy.   
 
 
7. Background Papers 
 
7.1 DfT Consultation - Taxi and private hire vehicle best practice guidance 
 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-best-

practice-guidance 
 
7.2 Report and Minutes of Cabinet, 12 July 2022 
 
7.3 South Kesteven Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (pdf) 
 http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35112/Hackney%20Carriag

e%20and%20Private%20Hire%20Licensing%20Policy.pdf 
 
8. Appendices 
 
8.1 Appendix 1 – Response from the Minister for Aviation and Local Transport, 27 

October 2022 
 

84



85

Appendix 1 Part 1



This page is intentionally left blank



87

Appendix 1 Part 2



88



 
 

       

Cabinet  
 
 
13 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke, 
Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

 
Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Challenge – Progress Review 
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
To formally receive the Local Government Association’s progress report following a six-
month review that took place in September 2022 further to the Council’s involvement in 
the Corporate Peer Challenge and consider adoption of an action plan to implement 
further improvements to service delivery. 
 
 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of the Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Challenge Progress Report, attached at Appendix A. 

2. Approves the Action Plan, attached at Appendix B. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

89

Agenda Item 9



Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All or insert specific ward(s) 

 

1.  Implications 
 
Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 
governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 
staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 
declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 
identified: 
 
Finance and Procurement  
 
1.1 There are no financial or procurement implications arising from this report. 
 
Completed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance  
 
Legal and Governance 
 
1.2 There are no legal or governance implications arising from this report. 
 
Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 
 
2. Background to the Report 
 
2.1  The Council undertook the Local Government Association Peer Challenge 

between 16 and 18 November 2021, further to which a number of 
recommendations for improvement were made. 

 
2.2 The Council adopted an Action Plan, setting out how the Authority intended to 

address each of the recommendations for improvement. 
 
2.3 An integral part of the Corporate Peer Challenge process is the undertaking of a 

progress review approximately six months after the Council publishes its Action 
Plan. This is designed to provide space for the Council’s senior leadership team to 
provide an update on early progress made and consider feedback and reflections 
from the Peer Review Panel. 

90



2.4 The progress review took place on 21 September 2022 with the Peer Review 
Panel meeting key Members and Officers of the Council in person for discussions 
focused on the recommendations aligned with the following themes: 

 
 Embedding rigour and robustness  
 Investing in organisational development 
 Invest in and engage with communities  
 Officer and Member relationships 

 
3. Key Considerations 
 
3.1 A copy of the Local Government Association Peer Review Panel’s Progress 

Report is attached to this report at Appendix A. 
 
3.2 The Peer Review Panel was impressed with and strongly commended the 

breadth, depth and scale of activity that had taken place in the ten months since 
the commencement of the initial Corporate Peer Challenge across all nine 
recommendations. 

 
3.3 A number of areas for further suggested improvement were also highlighted which 

are captured in a further Action Plan attached to the report at Appendix B. This 
Action Plan sets out the further work proposed to be undertaken to address those 
further areas of improvement referred to in the progress report.   

 
4. Other Options Considered 
 
4.1 To note the report and take no further action. 
 
4.2 To identify any further areas for improvement and include these in the Action Plan. 
 
5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
5.1 To ensure that necessary action is undertaken to address further improvements 

that could be made to service delivery, as highlighted in the progress report. 
 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 Feedback following the progress review has been provided to all Members of the 

Council and all staff. 
 
7. Appendices 
 
7.1 Appendix A – Local Government Association Progress Report 
 
7.2 Appendix B – Action Plan  

91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge – Progress 
Review  
 

 

South Kesteven District Council 
 
21 September 2022 

 
Feedback  
 

  

 

 

  

93

Appendix A



  

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 2    

2. Summary of the approach .................................................................................... 3 

3. Progress Review - Feedback ............................................................................... 3 

4. Final thoughts and next steps .............................................................................. 9  

 
 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

The council undertook an LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC) between 16 -18 

November 2021 and promptly published the full report with an action plan.   

The progress review is an integral part of the Corporate Peer Challenge process.  

Taking place approximately six months after the council published the CPC action 

plan, it is designed to provide space for the council’s senior leadership to: 

• Update peers on the early progress made and to receive feedback on this 

including how the action plan aligns to the CPC’s recommendations   

• Consider peers’ reflections on any new opportunities or challenges that may 

have arisen since the peer team were ‘on-site’ including any further support 

needs 

• Discuss any early impact or learning from the progress made to date  

The LGA would like to thank South Kesteven District Council for their commitment to 

sector led improvement. This six-month review was the next step in an ongoing, open, 

and close relationship that the council has with LGA sector support. 

 

 

 

 

 

94

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2. Summary of the approach 
 

The progress review at South Kesteven District Council took place on 21 September 

2022.   The following members of the original CPC team were involved:   

• Stephen Baker, Chief Executive, East Suffolk Council  

• Councillor Abi Brown, Leader, Stoke-on-Trent City Council 

• Paul Ellis, Deputy Chief Executive, Craven District Council  

• Frances Marshall, Peer Challenge Manager, LGA 

The peer team met in person over the course of 4 hours with the following 

representatives from the council:  

• Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 

• Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance & 

Licensing 

• Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 

• Councillor Sarah Trotter, Chairman of the Employment Committee 

• Councillor Paul Wood, Leader of the Opposition 

• Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

• Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer 

• Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 Officer 

• Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance and Deputy Section 151 

Officer 

• Fran Beckitt, Human Resources Manager 

• Andrew Cotton, Director of Housing and Property 

• Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director for Culture and Growth 

• Jonathon Hinde, Head of Business Growth and Inward Investment 

 

 

 

 

95

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The Progress Review focussed on each of the recommendations from the Corporate 

Peer Challenge as set out below, under the following theme headings:  

Embedding rigour and robustness 

• Prepare the organisation for the increased rigours of financial 

management to address the challenges ahead.  Developing the discipline 

and mindset required for strong operational financial management will support 

effective prioritisation, informed decision-making, and setting and delivery of 

realistic savings targets.  

• Develop a strategy and plans for future ways of working to provide clarity 

and a sense of purpose. Bringing together plans around blended working, 

staff accommodation, asset management and IT investment will support long-

term joined-up planning, aligned to SKDC’s future organisational vision. 

• Prioritise plans to strengthen governance to support effective decision 

making and mitigate risk. (E.g. external ‘health check’ of company 

governance structures, implementation of existing governance reviews etc). 

This will be important to drive performance improvements, provide assurance, 

and ensure there is transparent, accountable, and robust decision-making. 

 

Investing in Organisational Development 

• Be prepared to invest in yourselves to engage on a wider footing to learn 

and make SKDC the best it can be. Investing in individual development (both 

elected Member and officer), and seeking to learn from elsewhere, is important 

to establish a continuous learning culture to drive forward improvement and 

change. 

• Recognise and celebrate the significant progress made whilst keeping 

focus to maintain momentum, looking ahead to achieving SKDC’s full 

potential. Building on the achievements already made will help reinforce that 

direction of travel, support staff morale and mitigate change fatigue through 

positive reinforcement. 

 

 

 

96

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Invest in and engage with communities 

• Continue to deepen understanding of and engagement with communities 

and other partners to strengthen SKDC’s community leadership role.  This 

will strengthen SKDC’s understanding of its communities and role as a place 

leader. This could include: continuous dialogue; more active community 

leadership role for councillors; systematic approach to resident and community 

engagement; promoting equality, diversity, and inclusion; collaborating on 

shared priorities; and co-design. 

 

Officer and Member Relationships 

• Clarify roles and responsibilities of Members and Officers to build trust, 

respect and rebalance to a ‘Member-led officer managed’. Clearly defining 

the bounds of the strategic and policy decision-making role of elected 

Members, and the operational leadership of officers, will address the current 

imbalance and support a positive environment for collaborative Member /Officer 

working. 

• Articulate the standards of behaviour for all #TeamSK (elected Members 

and Officers) to promote respect and address poor behaviours. Setting 

clear expectations would enable behaviours that fall below that standard to be 

held to account and help embed a positive team #TeamSK culture. This could 

be through a form of Respect Pledge or Strategy. 

• Consider how to enhance communication and teamwork between 

Members, and between Members and Officers in the context of Covid 19. 

Investing in relationships will support the development of greater trust, 

accountability and shared understanding which is something many councils are 

doing in response to experiences during the pandemic. This will in turn support 

decision-making, delivery and improve morale. Techniques to support this 

could include away-days, shadowing, roundtables. 

 

 

 

97

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

3. Progress Review - Feedback 
 

Overview  

The Peer Team was impressed with and strongly commended the breadth, depth and 

scale of activity that had taken place in the ten months since the Corporate Peer 

Challenge, across the nine recommendations.  The multidimensional way in which 

SKDC has progressed a programme of improvement, advanced local priorities, whilst 

also continuing to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic is something Peers felt SKDC 

should be proud of.  The Council’s openness about the necessity for further 

improvement and culture change to fully address the CPC recommendation and meet 

#TeamSK standards, was matched by a positivity and confidence in doing so.  

Continuing to take time to recognise and celebrate this progress will remain important 

to maintain momentum around SKDC’s improvement activities and its positive 

trajectory.  Consideration should be given to how SKDC sustains the momentum and 

energy it has generated in the face of external factor such as local elections and 

financial uncertainties. 

The following summary is not intended as an exhaustive record of activity undertaken 

by SKDC in response to the Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC).  Activity in relation to 

SKDC’s improvement programme and delivery against the CPC recommendations is 

captured, monitored and reported by the authority in regular reporting to Cabinet.    

3.1. Embedding rigour and robustness 

SKDC have progressed a wide range of significant programmes and projects in 

response to the CPC’s recommendations around embedding greater rigour and 

robustness across the breadth of the Council’s operations.  In relation to finance this 

has included: financial modelling and stress testing the financial impact of cost-of-

living crisis and rising utility costs on the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS); 

identification of contingency reserves in light of inflationary pressures and risks; 

strengthened member engagement in relation to budget challenges; commencement 

of Capital Programme review; and leading collaboration across Lincolnshire local 

authorities to work collectively on tracking financial challenges resulting from the 

current economic climate.  

98

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=164


  

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

In terms of measures to strengthen governance, steps undertaken have included: 

completing a review of the Constitution; publication of the 2021 CfGS Scrutiny Review 

with changes requiring constitutional amendment now beginning to be progressed; 

appointment of the Leader of the Opposition as Chairman of Audit and Governance 

Committee; extending the length of employee notice period to mitigate risk; and 

reviews of various Company structures resulting in the rationalisation of these.   

Other key developments have included: securing capital return from agreed disposal 

of current Council Office Headquarters and relocation to more cost-effective 

‘Customer Hub’ shared with Lincolnshire County Council; implementation of Asset 

Disposal Strategy; introduction of Invest to Save Strategy; Housing Stock Condition 

Survey undertaken to direct HRA resources; commenced Waste Review to inform 

design for new Refuse Depot; agreement to the demolition of St Martins Park site, 

generating capital receipts and allowing for development. 

SKDC reported that the impact of these collective changes had created greater 

financial confidence and awareness across the authority, with rigour and robustness 

evident through the substantial level of assurance provided by SKDC’s internal 

auditors.  Positive changes have also been recognised by the Social Housing 

Regulator with regards to SKDC’s Housing Services, however SKDC were clear that 

significant further improvements were required to provide the standard of service 

customers should expect and secure removal of statutory direction.  The Peer Team 

commended SKDC’s holistic approach to embedding robustness and rigour across 

the authority, noting that a collective sense of ownership, enthusiasm and drive was 

evident in those SKDC colleagues that Peers had spoken with.  SKDC’s proactive 

approach to contingency planning to navigate the current economic volatility was 

highlighted by Peers as good practice and prudent which would position the Council 

well for managing the financial challenges and uncertainties.   

3.2. Investing in Organisational Development 

SKDC has invested significantly in organisational development and cultural change, 

with the introduction of a People Strategy and supporting Action Plan driving this 

activity.  This has included: engaging staff and elected members in reviewing the 

Council’s values; establishment of a People Panel to facilitate bottom-up engagement 

and consultation with staff on key issues and policies; strong focus on staff wellbeing, 

99

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

with creation of support networks such as Officer Parenting Forum and Menopause 

Café; completion of staff appraisals; focus on workforce and succession planning; 

adoption of a people-centred hybrid flexible working model for staff; and new platforms 

to recognises and celebrate staff contributions, such as awards and plans for a 

Recognition Strategy.   

SKDC reported that collectively these measures had made a “big step in the right 

direction” in driving a new organisational culture, but there was still further to go with 

long term culture change taking time to evolve and embed.  The People Panel was 

highlighted as having been a particularly impactful engagement tool, with participation 

covering all teams across the Council.  It was playing an integral role in helping to 

shape the move to the new offices and in shaping the Council’s new values.  The Peer 

Team commended the person-centred approach to staff wellbeing, and commitment 

from both strategic and political leadership to unleashing the benefits of agile working.  

A #TeamSK mentality appeared to have become more established over the past ten 

months, with development of one team approach evident from those colleagues the 

Peer Team spoke with, and the People Panel reportedly bringing innovation and wide-

ranging impact.  The Peer Team commented on the empowerment of the senior 

leadership team, with this cohort noticeably more confident in this leadership space 

and evidence of individuals driving changes and providing the Chief Executive with 

greater capacity and support. 

3.3. Invest in and engage with communities 

SKDC have progressed and implemented several measures to deepen engagement 

with its communities and other partners to strengthen SKDC’s community leadership 

role.  These have included: investing in two new community engagement posts; 

securing a shared community development apprentice post with Lincolnshire 

Community and Voluntary Service; facilitating shared office accommodation with 

partner organisations; introduction of SK Community Awards; initiated Community 

Governance Review for Grantham; commenced transfer of community assets to 

parish and town councils; conducted a Tenant Survey and launched new engagement 

platform to strengthen tenant engagement; established a cost of living working group 

to support communities; launched HelloSK App to support businesses to thrive; and 

welcomed the most Ukrainians in the whole of Lincolnshire in response to the 

Ukrainian crisis.    

100

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

To strengthen the impact of these activities, SKDC planned to now develop a 

Communication Strategy, and Community Development and Engagement Strategy to 

provide strategic oversight and alignment across its community focused activities.  

These will be important tools in achieving its aspirations to make effective use of the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural England Prosperity funding SKDC has secured, 

and ensure activities support marginalised communities.  The Peer Team applauded 

the momentum that SKDC had maintained in engagement with communities and local 

businesses.  They endorsed the importance of a Communities and a Communication 

Strategy to align and direct SKDC activities in this area.  

3.4. Officer and Member Relationships 

SKDC have undertaken an extensive programme of activities designed to foster 

greater trust and respect between Member and Officers, and address poor 

behaviours.  This has included: completing a review of Constitution; adoption of the 

LGA Model Councillor Code of Conduct for Councillors; bottom up approach to 

reviewing the Council’s values; increased engagement between Members and 

Officers such as ‘drop-in’ sessions prior to Full Council, briefings, and one-to-ones 

between Portfolio Holders and Directors; externally facilitated Team Development 

Away Days for senior political leadership, managerial leadership and political groups; 

elected Member participation in refreshing the Council’s People Plan; refreshed 

weekly corporate communications to staff and Members; training for Committee 

Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen; and implementation of revised Member enquiry 

process related to housing matters.  

SKDC reported that as result of these efforts, there had been some progress in 

fostering greater trust between Members and Officers and clarifying respective roles 

and responsibilities.  There was however still a way to go for positive behaviours to be 

consistently role modelled across the authority.  Whist realistic about the incremental 

nature of cultural and behavioural change, the Leader and Chief Executive remain 

committed to doing so and felt that the steps taken to promote respect and strengthen 

governance provided a platform to continue to build from.  The Peer Team reflected 

on the impressive breadth of activity undertaken and impact of this investment on the 

maturity of certain relationships, with those SKDC colleagues that the Peer Team 

spoke with reporting increased levels of trust and confidence. It will be important for 

SKDC to consider how it continues this momentum, particularly with all out elections in 

101

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2023.  Developing a Member Induction Programme for new and returning members 

that encompasses #TeamSK values and building key relationships – as well as the 

skills and understanding of the role - will be important and should be developed ahead 

of time.    

4. Final thoughts and next steps 
 

The LGA would like to thank South Kesteven District Council for undertaking an LGA 

CPC progress review.  We appreciate that senior managerial and political leadership 

will want to reflect on these reflections to determine how the organisation wishes to 

take things forward.  Under the umbrella of LGA sector-led improvement, there is an 

on-going offer of support to councils. The LGA is well placed to provide additional 

support, advice and guidance on a number of the areas identified for development and 

improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.   Mark Edgell (Principal Adviser) 

is the main point of contact between the authority and the Local Government 

Association (LGA) and their e-mail address is mark.edgell@local.gov.uk  

102

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:mark.edgell@local.gov.uk


Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge – Progress Review 
 

Action Plan for Further Improvements 
 

 

 Suggested Improvement  Action to be taken Responsible 
officer(s) 

Timescale  
 

1. The Council itself highlighted that significant 
further improvements were required to 
provide the standard of service customers 
should expect and secure removal of 
statutory direction in relation to Housing 
 

• Implementation of the 
Housing Improvement Plan 
 

• Refresh of the Housing 
Business Plan 

 

• Undertake an external audit 
of housing compliance data 

 

• Request removal of the 
Housing Notice from the 
Statutory Housing Regulator 
 

Acting Director of 
Housing  

2023/2024 

2. The Council itself reported that collectively a 
number of measures had made a ‘big step 
in the right direction’ in driving a new 
organisational culture, but there was still 
further to go with long term culture change 
taking time to evolve 
 

• Successful office move used 
to embed the #TeamSK ‘One 
Council’ approach the 
changing culture of the 
organisation  

 

• Delivery of the People 
Strategy in collaboration with 
the Corporate Management 
Team, Senior Leadership 
Team and the People Panel    

 

• Delivery of the annual Staff 
Survey to identify next steps 

 

Deputy Chief 
Executive and HR 
Manager 

January 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
April 2023  

103

A
ppendix B



Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge – Progress Review 
 

Action Plan for Further Improvements 
 

 

 

3. Development of a Communication Strategy 
 

• To develop and implement a 
Communication Strategy for 
the Council 

Deputy Chief 
Executive and 
Communications 
Manager 
 

December 2022 

4. Development of a Community Development 
and Engagement Strategy 
 
 
 

• To develop and implement a 
Community Development 
and Engagement Strategy 

Director of Growth 
and Culture and 
Community 
Engagement and 
Community 
Engagement Manager 

Scheduled for 
consideration at 
Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee in 
February 2023 and 
for subsequent 
approval by 
Cabinet 
 

5. To continue to promote respect and 
strengthen governance in order that positive 
behaviours can be consistently role 
modelled across the authority in respect of 
Officer and Member relationships  
 

• To provide annual refresh 
training for all Members of 
the Council on the Code of 
Conduct and the 
Officer/Member Relations 
Protocol  

 

• To include Code of Conduct 
and Member/Officer 
Relations Protocol training as 
part of the induction 
programme for newly-elected 
and re-elected Members 

Deputy Chief 
Executive and 
Assistant Director of 
Governance  

Annually  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Code of Conduct 
and 
Member/Officer 
Relations Protocol 
training already in 

104



Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge – Progress Review 
 

Action Plan for Further Improvements 
 

 

 

 

• To provide briefings for 
Parish and Town Councils on 
the LGA Model Code of 
Conduct, encouraging its 
adoption  

 

• To provide training for 
Officers on working in a 
political environment and that 
this forms part of the 
induction programme for new 
starters  

 

the induction 
programme  
 
Parish and Town 
Council events 
planned for 
January and 
February in the 
four towns to be 
held annually 
thereafter 
 
The corporate 
induction 
programme 
includes a section 
on working in a 
political 
environment 
 

6. Development of a Member Induction 
Programme for new and returning Members 
that encompasses #TeamSK values and 
building key relationships as well as the 
required skills and understanding of the role  
 

• Work has already 
commenced on the refresh of 
the comprehensive induction 
programme for newly elected 
and re-elected Members after 
the elections in May 2023 

 

• An essential part of the 
programme is around 
building relationships, with 

Deputy Chief 
Executive and 
Assistant Director of 
Governance  

Approval:  
February 2023 
 
Implementation:  
May 2023 

105



Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge – Progress Review 
 

Action Plan for Further Improvements 
 

 

 

each newly-elected Member 
being allocated with a single 
point of contact through a 
budding system, as well as 
providing opportunities for 
Members to meet and 
engage with the key Officers 
from the Council across all 
service areas. 

 

• A number of sessions are 
scheduled over a five week 
period, which will include an 
overview of the role and 
responsibilities of 
Councillors, together with the 
various additional roles they 
may undertake (such as 
membership or chairmanship 
of specific committees). 
Training on the Council’s 
objectives and vision will also 
form part of the induction 
programme. 

 
 

106



 

 

       

Cabinet 
 

13 December 2022 

 

Report of  

Councillor Adam Stokes 

The Deputy Leader of the Council 

 

 

 

Finance Update Report: April – October 2022 
 

Report Author 

Alison Hall-Wright (Assistant Director of Finance) 

 alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of Report 

To inform Cabinet of the Council’s forecast 2022/23 financial position as at the end of 

October 2022. The report covers the following areas:                                       
 

• General Fund Revenue Budget 

• Housing Revenue Account Budget 

• Capital Programmes – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet: 

1. Reviews and notes the forecast 2022/23 outturn position for the General 
Fund and HRA Revenue and Capital budgets as at the end of October 
2022. 

 

 

 

 

107

Agenda Item 10

mailto:alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant 
corporate priorities?  

Growth and our economy 

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

Healthy and strong communities 

Clean and sustainable environment 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, staffing, 

community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s declaration 

of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been identified: 

Finance and Procurement  

1.1 The financial implications are included within the report. 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

Legal and Governance 

1.2 As part of good governance, it is important members are kept updated in respect 

of the financial position of Council expenditure during the year. 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

Risk and Mitigation 

1.3 A risk register is at Appendix E and shows that all known current risks are 

recognised and associated mitigating actions are in place. 

Completed by: Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer 

2 Background to the Report 

2.1 During the current financial year, Cabinet is being provided with regular finance 

reports that monitor and forecast the budget against the current economic 

conditions that are facing the Council. 

3 Revenue Budget 2022/23 – General Fund  

3.1 The budget set by Council on 3 March 2022 was £18.247m. Table 1 shows the 

summary of movements. 

 

 
 

108



Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Budget Amendments 
 

Date of Approval Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

  18,247 

April 2022 Regeneration Reserve 30 

April 2022 ICT Reserve 68 

May 2022 Invest to Save Reserve  500 

July 2022  2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards 1,632 

August 2022 Waste Reserve 81 

November 2022 Inflation Reserve 199 

November 2022 Inflation Reserve 200 

November 2022 Local Priorities Reserve 280 

Total  21,237 
 

3.2 Council approved a number of budget adjustments on 24 November 2022 which 

have been included in this report and will fund the following forecast overspends as 

at the end of October. 

• £199k Electricity 

• £200k Fuel 

• £280k Workshop 

3.3 The further budget adjustment approved by Council to fund the pay award will be 

included in future reports as this is to be paid in December. 

3.4 The budgets adjustments approved by Council reduce the overspend at net cost of 

service from £817k to £138k.  The £138k overspend can be funded from the 

additional £400k interest received from investments which results in a balanced 

position to date.  The balance of additional investment interest will be used to 

contribute towards the budget adjustments detailed in paragraph 3.2 reducing the 

transfer from reserves by £262k. 

3.5 Members are reminded that the net cost of budget includes an efficiency saving of 

£500k for the corporate restructure. This will be achieved in 2022/23. 

Table 2 – General Fund Forecast Outturn Position 

Description 

2022/23  

Original 
Budget 

2022/23 

Current  

Budget 

2022/23 

Forecast  

spend 

Forecast 
Variance 

Forecast 
Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Corporate 8,641 9,333 9,437 104 1.1% 

109



Finance 4,344 4,878 4,856 (22) (0.4%) 

Growth & Culture 6,726 6,721 6,837 116 1.7% 

Housing & Property 1,323 3,092 3,032 (60) (1.9%) 

HRA Recharge (2,787) (2,787) (2,787) 0 0.0% 

Net Cost of Service 18,247 21,237 21,375 138 0.6% 

Investment Income (101) (101) (501) (400) 
 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

291 291 291 0   

Revenue Contribution 
to Capital 

55 55 55 0  

Drainage Rates 792 792 792 0  

Depreciation (4,722) (4,722) (4,722) 0   

Net Budget 
Requirement 

14,562 17,552 17,290 (262)   

Total Funding  (14,564) (14,564) (14,564) 0 
 

Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

2 (2,988) (2,726) 262 

Net Budget  

(Surplus)/ Deficit 
0 0 0 0  

 

3.5 Table 3 shows the significant forecast variances which impact across all 

directorates for the General Fund revenue for 2022/23 as at 31 October 2022. 

Table 3 – General Fund Revenue – Significant Variances 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Salary vacancy factor 

A reduction in vacant posts across the Council and increases in agency 
provision will have a direct impact on the achievement of the salary 
vacancy factor.  This will continue to be monitored during the year and the 
forecast amended accordingly 

446 

Investment Income 

Base rate increases have resulted in an increase on the interest rates 
available for investments.  The Council is now able to secure interest rates 
above 3% compared with the budgeted rate of 0.5% 

(400) 

 

3.6 Appendix A provides further details of the outturn revenue position for each 

Directorate along with service specific variance comments other than those 

detailed in table 3. 

110



4 General Fund Capital Programme 2022/23 

The budget set by Council on 3 March 2022 for the 2022/23 General Fund Capital 

programme is £19.608m. Table 4 shows the summary of movements: 

Table 4 – General Fund Capital Programme Budget Adjustments 

Date of 
Approval 

GF Budget amendment £’000 

  19,608 

March 2022 Changing Places Facilities – Grant award 160 

April 2022 Street Scene Vehicle Procurement – delivery of 
vehicles in March 22 (funding utilised from 
22/23) 

(525) 

May 2022 Disabled Facilities Grant- additional award 115 

July 2022 2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards 990 

November 2022 St Martin’s Park - Regeneration Reserve 193 

Total  20,541 

 

4.1 Table 5 summarises the General Fund Capital forecast outturn position as at 31 

October 2022, including the approved budget adjustment by Council on 24 

November 2022. 

Table 5 – General Fund Capital Forecast Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2022/23 
Original 
Budget 

 

£’000 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget 

 

£’000 

2022/23 
Forecast 

spend 

 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 

 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

 

 

% 

Corporate 2,517 2,349 2,339 (10) (0.4%) 

Finance  0 27 27 0 0.0% 

Growth & Culture 13,992 14,252 14,127 (125) (0.9%) 

Housing & Property 3,099 3,913 3,274 (639) (16.3%) 

Total Expenditure 19,608 20,541 19,767 (774) (3.8%) 

 

 

 

 

 

111



4.2 Table 6 shows the significant forecast variances for the General Fund capital 

schemes for 2022/23 as at 31 October 2022. 

Table 6 – General Fund Capital – Significant Variances 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Shop Front Scheme 

It is anticipated that this year’s programme will be funded from the 
Heritage Action Zone budget. 

(125) 

Welham Street- Resurfacing, Lift & Car Park barriers 

Savings made on lift works due to refined specifications during 
procurement. 

(100) 

Empingham Road S106 Grants 

Until terms and conditions of the S106 monies have been fully met, 
funds cannot be transferred. This is unlikely to occur in 2022/23. 

(298) 

Guildhall Arts Centre – Renovations 

Scheme is now complete and is under budget. 

(35) 

Stamford Arts Centre – Renovations 

The project is no longer proceeding and has been withdrawn as part of 
the budget review. 

(69) 

Decarbonisation Scheme 

The next Salix funding round will take place in March 2023.  A budget 
carry forward into the next financial year will be required to finance 
match funding. 

(183) 

Changing Places 

Initial feasibility works have been completed at the Meres Leisure 
Centre & South Street Toilets sites. Designs have been reviewed with 
some amendments proposed, procurement is currently underway. 

46 

 

5 General Fund Reserves 
5.1 Appendix B details the General Fund forecast reserve movements for 2022/23. 

The appendix shows the balances at 31 March 2022 and their projected use for 

the current and future financial years. The budget adjustments approved by 

Council on 24 November 2022 are included with the exception of the pay award 

as this will be paid in December so detailed in future reports. 

6 Revenue Budget 2022/23 – Housing Revenue Account 

The budget set by Council on 3 March 2022 for the 2022/23 HRA Revenue Budget 

was £6.116m. The budgeted surplus is fully utilised to fund future investment in 

stock growth and property maintenance. Table 7 shows the summary of 

movements: 

 

 

112



Table 7 – HRA Revenue Budget Adjustments 

Date of Approval HRA Budget amendment £’000 

  (6,116) 

March 2021 Electrical Testing 150 

July 2022 2021/22 Budget carry forwards 200 

July 2022 Earlesfield Project 1,364 

November 2022 HRA Priorities Reserve 167 

Total  (4,235) 

6.1 Council approved a number of budget adjustments on 24 November 2022 which 

have been included in this report and will fund the following forecast overspend as 

at the end of October. 

• £167k Electricity 

Table 8 shows an increased surplus for the HRA of £4.305m compared to a 

budgeted surplus of £4.235m.   The increased surplus is due to an increase in 

interest rates receivable on investments which will be used to partially offset the 

forecasted inflationary increases (£600k).  This is offset by increased repairs and 

maintenance costs (£170k) and removal of the salary vacancy factor forecasts 

(£136k) which will be monitored throughout the remainder of the financial year.   

Further details of these variances are provided in table 9. 

Table 8 – HRA Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 

Description 

2022/23 
Original 
Budget 

£’000 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget 

£’000 

2022/23 
Forecast 

spend 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance  
£’000 

Forecast 
Variance  

% 

Income (26,512) (26,512) (26,296) 216 0.1% 

Expenditure 18,261 20,142 20,456 314 1.6% 

Net Cost of HRA Services (8,251) (6,370) (5,840) 530 8.3% 

Interest Payable 2,335 2,335 2,335 0  

Investment Income (200) (200) (800) (600)  

Surplus for the year (6,116) (4,235) (4,305) (70)  

 

6.2 Table 9 shows the significant forecast variances for the HRA Revenue fund 

schemes for 2022/23 as at 31 October 2022. 

Table 9 – HRA Revenue – Significant Variances 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Repairs & Maintenance 

Compliance works have required an additional £100k of electrical testing, 

170 

113



£70k of additional costs for compensation payments being made due to 
disrepair claims received by the Council. 

Supervision & Management – General 

There are additional costs of completing a second Tenant Satisfaction 
survey £18k during 2022/23.  

24 

Salary vacancy factor 

A reduction in vacant posts across the Council, an increase in notice 
periods and increases in agency provision will have a direct impact on 
the achievement of the salary vacancy factor.  This will continue to be 
monitored during the year and the forecast amended accordingly. 

136 

Investment Income 

Base rate increases have resulted in an increase on the interest rates 
available for investments.  The Council is now able to secure interest 
rates over 3% compared with the budgeted rate of 0.5%.   

(600) 

 

6.3 Appendix C provides further details of the HRA revenue forecast outturn position. 

 

7 HRA Capital Programme 2022/23 

The budget set by Council on 3 March 2022 for the 2022/23 HRA Capital 

programme is £16.353m. Table 10 shows the summary of movements: 

 

Table 10 – HRA Capital Programme Budget Adjustments 

Date of Approval GF Budget amendment £’000 

  16,353 

July 2022 2021/22 Budget Carry Forwards 2,881 

Total  19,234 

 

Table 11 summarises the HRA Capital forecast outturn position as at 31 October 

2022.  

Table 11 – HRA Capital Forecast Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2022/23 
Original 
Budget 

£’000 

2022/23 

Current 
Budget 

£’000 

2022/23 
Forecast 

spend 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance  

% 

Energy Efficiency Initiatives 3,885  4,230 2,000  (2,230)  (52.7%) 

ICT 1,170 1,220 735 (485) (39.8%) 

Repairs Vehicles 178 178 178 0 0.0% 

New Build Programme 3,820 4,120 1,400 (2,720) (66.0%) 

114



Refurbishment and Improvement 7,300 9,761    5,292 (4,469) (45.8%) 

Total Expenditure 16,353     19,234 9,605 (9,629) (50.0%) 

 

7.1 Table 12 shows the significant forecast variances for the HRA capital schemes for 

2022/23 as at 31 October 2022.   

 

Table 12 – HRA Capital – Significant Variances 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Central Heating, Ventilation and Boilers 

Slippage on this year’s programme will lead to a reduced programme which 
will result in the inflation increases being absorbed in the existing budget. 

(2,230) 

Housing System Enhancements 

The system is forecast to go live in April 2023. Further modules will be 
delivered over the next 4 years and the in year underspend will be used to 
fund these modules in future years. 

(485) 

Communal Rooms 

Reduced programme and emphasis on works related to landlord health and 
safety. Strategic review of the communal rooms offer is planned so the 
immediate focus is on compliance work. 

(50) 

Replacement Doors & Windows Programme 

Difficulties with current supplier capacity has led to the need to identify an 
alternative supplier in order to recommence the programme 

(1,087) 

Housing Growth 

Swinegate, Grantham and Elizabeth Road, Stamford expected to start 
on site March 2023. Two further projects at Uplands Drive, Grantham 
and Larch Close, Grantham are currently in the planning stage. This 
year’s programme will also include the acquisition of properties on the 
open market.  

(2,720) 

Kitchens & Bathrooms Programme 

There is an impact on the contractor delivering the programme due to 
other SK works being prioritised, coupled with contractor staff 
shortages causing capacity issues. This is causing a delay in the 
programme delivery. 

(1,675) 

Door Entry System 

Review of procurement arrangements to be undertaken therefore a 
smaller improvement scheme is planned for this year. 

(280) 

Exterior Refurbishment 

Significant inflation risk, materials and inflation uplift in contract.  
Mitigations - Programme to be adjusted. Delay in programmes will 
affect the energy efficiency targets. 

(435) 

Re-wiring (303) 

115



Due to delays in starting the Earlesfield programme which commenced 
in October, it is not likely that the initial programme will be completed 
in this financial year. It is proposed to carry forward budget for 
completion in line with the project timeline. 

Passenger Lifts, Supported Housing Scheme 

Pending contract award, inflation risk but budget provision likely to 
allow containment as tenders lower than anticipated.  Lack of in-house 
expertise in this specialist field has led the Council to engage 
consultancy to procure and manage works. 

(365) 

 

8 HRA Reserves 
8.1 Appendix D details the HRA forecast reserve movements for 2022/23. The 

appendix shows the balances at 31 March 2022 and their projected use for the 

current and future financial years. The budget adjustments approved by Council 

on 24 November 2022 are included with the exception of the pay award as this 

will be paid in December so detailed in future reports. 

9 Inflation 

9.1 Since the budgets were prepared last autumn and approved by Council in March 

2022, there has been an unprecedented and completely unforeseen increase in 

inflation and energy costs.  This context along with potential pressures on the 

salary budgets is causing concern that the budget framework for 2022/23 will come 

under pressure as the year progresses. 

9.2 As part of the outturn report, an inflation reserve of £500k was created for the 
General Fund to absorb any potential cost pressures during the current financial 
year.  Whilst this will provide some short-term funding support, there will be a 
funding pressure going into 2023/24 which will need to be considered as part of 
the budget setting process. 

9.3 Fuel 

The combined fuel budget is £690k for 2022/23 (90% General Fund and 10% 

HRA).  Fuel usage is approximately 625,000 litres per annum and the budgeted 

price per litre was set at £1.10.  The latest bulk purchase unit price paid was £1.48 

and continues to be monitored on a weekly basis.  If the price of fuel increases at 

the same rate for the remainder of the year then there will be a pressure of circa 

£230k for the current financial year and an increased pressure in next financial 

year.   This budgetary pressure is being monitored on a weekly basis and any 

additional budgetary pressures will be reported to this committee at future 

meetings. 

9.4 Utilities 

The General Fund budget for electricity for 2022/23 is £517k which includes a 

budget increase of 17% compared to 2021/22.  The HRA budget for 2022/23 is 

£155k which is an increase of 36% when compared to 2021/22.   The General 

Fund budget for gas for 2022/23 is £70k, an increase of 24% compared to 

116



2021/22.  The HRA budget is £149k which is an increase of 18% compared to 

2021/22.     

The most recent information (as at October 2022) received from the ESPO 

framework has confirmed the following: 

Electricity Consumption Rates: 

• 100% increase from October 2022 compared to October 2021 

• 10% increase from October 2023 compared to October 2022 

Gas Consumption Rates 

• No increase from April 2022 compared to 2021/22 

• 300% compared for 2023/24 compared to 2022/23  

9.5 There is currently no protection from price increases in 2023/24 which will result in 

significant cost increases when compared to current consumption. 

 
2021/22 

Outturn 

£ 

2022/23 

Budget 

£ 

2023/24 

Indicative 

Budget 

£ 

2023/24 

Updated 

Projection 

£ 

General Fund 

Electricity 403,000 516,700 554,800 1,653,000 

Gas 50,600 70,000 78,600 227,900 

HRA 

Electricity 176,300 154,800 170,200 629,500 

Gas 104,100 148,600 163,400 499,400 

Summary of 2023/24 budget increases (amount above currently budgeted): 

 2023/24  

(£) 

General Fund 1,247,500 

HRA 795,300 

9.6 These projected increases relate to the Council only and therefore do not include 

any potential increases that may adversely impact on the Council owned 

companies, specifically EnvironmentSK Ltd and LeisureSK Ltd.   In the event the 

companies are unable to accommodate the additional costs, then the necessary 

representation will be made to the Companies Committee.  

10. Collection Rates 

10.1 Table 13 details the current collection rates against target for 2022/23. 

 Table 13 – Collection Rates 

Target Information  Council Tax Business Rates Rents 

117



Annual collection 

rate 

Target 98.60% Target 98.32% Target 97.35% 

Target collection 

rate to end of 

October 2022 

65.55% 61.53% 58.54% 

Actual collection 

rate to end of 

October 2022 

64.70% 64.13% 58.08% 

10.2 Council Tax – during the national mourning period in September, there was a 

cessation of recovery activity where reminders or summonses were not issued. 

The current cost of living pressures are resulting in an increased number of DDR 

cancellations causing delays to receipt of payments. 

10.3 Business Rates – the target shown above is a comparison to the October 2021 

position. There is difficulty in measuring this target due to variances in business 

rates over the last 3 years.  

 

11.  Reasons for the Recommendations 

11.1 Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the 

Authority, as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial 

resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 

Council’s priorities.  Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 

against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action. 

11.2 This report provides an overview of the forecast 2022/23 financial position for the 

Council and focuses on the position as at the end of October 2022. 

12.  Consultation 

12.1 Budget monitoring reports have been presented to the Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19 

July and 22 September. The Committee requested that regular reports be 

presented at each Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) meeting to ensure 

members were kept fully updated on the changing situation. 

 

13.  Background Papers 

13.1 Determination of Budget 2022/23 and indicative budgets for 24/25 – General 

Fund, Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes Report. 

   http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32627/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf 

13.2    Provisional Outturn Position 2021/22 report 

 http://moderngovsvr/documents/s35223/Draft%20Financial%20Outturn%202021

22.pdf 

13.3    Finance Update – April – August 

118

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32627/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s35223/Draft%20Financial%20Outturn%20202122.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s35223/Draft%20Financial%20Outturn%20202122.pdf


Finance Update Report April-August 2022 Report.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk)  

14.  Appendices 

14.1  Appendix A – 2022/23 General Fund Significant Variance Analysis 

14.2  Appendix B – 2022/23 General Fund Reserves  

14.3  Appendix C – 2022/23 HRA Revenue Summary - Forecast Outturn 

14.4  Appendix D – 2022/23 HRA Reserves 

14.5  Appendix E - Finance Risk Register 

119

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35707/Finance%20Update%20Report%20April-August%202022%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

2022/23 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis 

 

Corporate 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget  

2022/23 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Centralised & 
Business 

Support 
467,590 (3,200) 464,390 452,430 (11,960) (2.6%) 

Communications 412,980 (4,300) 408,680 401,946 (6,734) (1.6%) 

Corporate 
Management 

422,762 (1,700) 421,062 448,062 27,000 6.4% 

Human 
Resources 

381,014 (6,950) 374,064 392,964 18,900 5.1% 

Legal & 
Democratic 

1,625,369 (298,400) 1,326,969 1,374,879 47,910 3.6% 

Ops & Public 
Protection 

Management 
108,663 0 108,663 116,263 7,600 7.0% 

Organisation & 
Transformation 

1,080,466 (484,400) 596,066 571,039 (25,027) (4.2%) 

Public Protection 1,538,850 (385,000) 1,153,850 1,169,641 15,791 1.4% 

Waste & Street 
Scene 

6,625,775 (2,147,100) 4,478,675 4,509,725 31,050 0.7% 

Total 12,663,469 (3,331,050) 9,332,419 9,436,949 104,530 1.1% 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

 Legal & Democratic 

Land Charges- Additional search fee costs together with an increase in non-
chargeable personal searches and significant reduction in official searches of 34% 
based on 2021/22 has resulted in a forecast overspend of £65k. This has been 
partially mitigated by in year vacancies of £10k 

48 

Street Scene 

Commercial Waste - Additional sales value has been achieved as a result of in year 
price increases and continuing growth in the customer base 

31 

 

 

 

 

 

121



Finance 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget  

2022/23 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Finance 2,850,997 (135,550) 2,715,447 2,705,765 (9,682) (0.4%) 

Finance 
Management 130,203 (16,350) 113,853 121,053 7,200 6.3% 

ICT Services 1,814,010 (40,550) 1,773,460 1,778,338 4,878 0.3% 

Revenues, 
Benefits & 
Customer 
Services 20,290,786 (20,016,950) 273,836 250,786 (23,050) (8.4%) 

TOTAL 25,085,996 (20,209,400) 4,876,596 4,855,942 (20,654) (0.4%) 
 
 

 

 

Growth & Culture 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget  

2022/23 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Arts & Culture 2,644,597 (1,223,050) 1,421,547 1,459,347 37,800 2.7% 

Building Control 941,077 (833,593) 107,484 105,344 (2,140) (2.0%) 

Community 
Engagement 274,646 (28,000) 246,646 247,900 1,254 0.5% 

Culture & 
Leisure Mgmt 323,853 0 323,853 334,600 10,747 3.3% 

Development & 
Policy 1,736,500 (1,428,100) 308,400 343,800 35,400 11.5% 

Growth 
Management 217,387 0 217,387 245,287 27,900 12.8% 

Investsk 890,512 (483,994) 406,518 406,518 0  0.0% 

Leisure 3,044,500 (150,350) 2,894,150 2,886,550 (7,600) (0.3%) 

Parks & Open 
Spaces 917,300 (122,250) 795,050 807,750 12,700 1.6% 

Total 10,990,372 (4,269,337) 6,721,035 6,837,096 116,061 1.7% 

 

122



Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Arts Centres 

There is a net loss of income following a reduced programme for films and workshops 
across the centres and live shows at the Meres leisure centre. The cost of casual 
employees have been reduced in line with the current programme which is under 
review by the service area  

Festivals - The programme is currently under review so no further expenditure has 
been committed in 2022/23, resulting in an under spend (£30k) 

38 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing & Property 

Service 
Area 

Current 
Expenditur
e Budget  

Current 
Income 
Budget 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget  

2022/23 
 Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

Forecast 
Variance  

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Health & 
Safety 116,200 0 116,200 119,300 3,100 2.7% 

Housing 
Services 1,260,805 (737,705) 523,100 557,100 34,000 6.5% 

Property 
Services 4,987,903 (2,814,150) 2,173,753 2,076,470 (97,283) (4.5%) 

Waste 
Depot 279,000 0 279,000 279,000 0  0.0% 

TOTAL 6,444,908 (3,551,855) 3,092,053 3,031,870 (60,183) (1.9%) 
 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Car Parks 

Operating costs and lower than budgeted usage across a number of car parks has 
resulted in a forecast variance 

26 

 

123



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B
2022/23 - 2025/26 General Fund Reserves Statement

 

Balance at 
31 March 

2022
Forecast 

Movement

Forecast 
Balance at 
31 March 

2023
Forecast 

Movement

Forecast 
Balance at 
31 March 

2024
Forecast 

Movement

Forecast 
Balance at 
31 March 

2025
Forecast 

Movement

Forecast 
Balance 

at 31 
March 
2026

Discretionary Reserves
1 Climate Change 31 (31) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2 Commercial 250 (250) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3 Training and Development 15 (7) 8 0 8 0 8 0 8
4 Street Scene 117 (81) 36 0 36 0 36 0 36
5 ICT investment 500 (206) 294 0 294 0 294 0 294
6 Economic Development & Growth 32 (32) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7 Local Priorities Reserve 6,999 (2,622) 4,377 (565) 3,812 (1,480) 2,332 100 2,432
8 Invest to Save 809 (160) 649 0 649 0 649 0 649
9 Housing Delivery 1,797 0 1,797 0 1,797 0 1,797 0 1,797

10 Property Maintenance 113 387 500 0 500 0 500 0 500
11 Regeneration 1,085 (652) 433 (227) 206 (5) 201 (125) 76

11,748 (3,374) 8,094 (792) 7,302 (1,485) 5,817 (25) 5,792

Governance Reserves
12 Insurance Reserve 211 0 211 0 211 0 211 0 211
13 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 308 (33) 275 (33) 242 (33) 209 (33) 176
14 Budget Stabilisation 4,531 (1,627) 2,904 0 2,904 0 2,904 0 2,904
15 Section 31 Grant Reserve 3,730 (3,730) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16 Rev Grants Carried Forwards 549 (549) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17 Building Control 76 (40) 36 (31) 5 (28) (23) (29) (52)
18 Football 3G Pitch 125 25 150 25 175 25 200 25 225
19 Special Expense Area Reserve 366 (110) 256 101 357 105 462 0 462
20 Inflation Reserve 500 (399) 101 0 101 0 101 0 101

10,397 (6,463) 3,934 62 3,996 69 4,065 (37) 4,028

21 Total General Revenue Reserves 22,145 (9,837) 12,028 (730) 11,298 (1,416) 9,882 (62) 9,820

Homelessness 257 (157) 100 0 100 0 100 0 100
New Burdens Grant 368 (55) 313 0 313 0 313 0 313
Neighbourhood Planning Grant 37 0 37 0 37 0 37 0 37
Individual Electoral Registration 82 (82) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Historic England 44 0 44 (44) 0 0 0 0 0
Grantham Growth 69 0 69 (69) (0) 0 (0) 0 (0)
Welfare Reform 177 0 177 0 177 0 177 0 177
Blue Green Corridor 97 (97) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

22 Government Grants Received 1,131 (391) 740 (113) 627 0 627 0 627

23 Working Balance 2,010 (46) 1,964 0 1,964 0 1,964 0 1,964

24 Total Revenue Reserves 25,285 (10,274) 14,731 (843) 13,888 (1,416) 12,472 (62) 12,410

25 Capital Reserve
26 LAMS Reserve 18 0 18 (18) 0 0 0 0 0
27 General Fund Capital Reserve 155 (114) 41 18 59 0 59 0 59
28 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,452 (310) 2,142 2,322 4,464 6,181 10,645 0 10,645

29 Total Capital Reserves 2,625 (424) 2,201 2,322 4,523 6,181 10,704 0 10,704

30 Total General Fund Reserves 27,910 (10,698) 16,932 1,479 18,411 4,765 23,176 (62) 23,114

125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

 
Housing Revenue Account Summary 2022/23  

 

Description 
2022/23 
 Original 
Budget 

2022/23 
Current 
Budget 

2022/23 
Forecast 

spend 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Income         

Dwelling Rents (25,399) (25,399) (25,229) 170 

Non-Dwelling Rents (332) (332) (308) 24 

Charges for Services and 
Facilities 

(715) (715) (708) 7 

Other Income (66) (66) (51) 15 

Total Income (26,512) (26,512) (26,296) 216 

          

Expenditure         

Repairs and Maintenance 7,435  8,767 9,208 441 

Supervision and 
Management - General 

2,032 2,406 2,456 50 

Supervision and 
Management - Special 

1,405 1,580 1,403 (177) 

Depreciation and 
Impairment of Fixed 
Assets 

3,828 3,828 3,828  0    

Debt Management 
Expenses 

 35   35   35   0   

Provision for bad debts  383   383   383   0    

Other Expenditure 
(Pension Deficit) 

356 356 356  0  

Support recharge from 
General Fund 

2,787 2,787 2,787  0    

 Total Expenditure 18,261 20,142 20,456 314 
     

Net Cost of HRA 
Services 

(8,251) (6,370) (5,840) 530 

Interest Payable and 
Similar Charges 

2,335 2,335 2,335 0  

Interest and Investment 
Income 

(200) (200) (800) (600) 

     

Surplus for the year (6,116) (4,235) (4,305) (70)  

 

 

 

 

127



This page is intentionally left blank



2022/23 - 2025/26
HRA Reserves Statement

Appendix D

Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2022

 Forecast 
Movement 

Forecast 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2023

 Forecast 
Movement 

Forecast 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2024

 Forecast 
Movement 

Forecast 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2025

 Forecast 
Movement 

Forecast 
Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2026

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Revenue Reserves
1 HRA Improvement Reserve 2,006 (720) 1,286 0 1,286 0 1,286 0 1,286
2 HRA Priorities Reserve 13,522 (167) 13,355 0 13,355 0 13,355 0 13,355
3 Residents Involvement 30 0 30 0 30 0 30 0 30
4 Working Balance 1,731 297 2,028 (527) 1,501 (383) 1,118 (192) 926
5 Total HRA Revenue Reserves 17,289 (618) 16,699 (527) 16,172 (383) 15,789 (192) 15,597

HRA Capital Reserve
6 HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 8,925 2,329 11,254 457 11,711 690 12,401 3,500 15,901
7 Major Repairs Reserve 18,527 (285) 18,242 (2,660) 15,582 (1,047) 14,535 164 14,699
8 Total HRA Capital Reserves 27,452 2,044 29,496 (2,203) 27,293 (357) 26,936 3,664 30,600

9 Total HRA Reserves 44,741 1,426 46,195 (2,730) 43,465 (740) 42,725 3,472 46,197

129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E – Finance Risk Register 
 

Risk 
Likeli-
hood 

Impact 

Residual 
Risk 

Score 
Mitigating Action 

1. Increase in borrowing interest 
rates 

3 3 9 
High 

Interest rates are continually monitored as they increased to an average of 3% 
compared to a budgeted assumption of 0.5%.  This has a positive impact on the 
investment income received although should the Council consider external borrowing 
then there is now an additional resource pressure as borrowing rates have increased 
significantly since April 2022.  

2. Capital programmes requiring 
borrowing in the medium term  

4 3 12 
Very High 

Continue to undertake financial modelling to identify consequences of undertaking 
borrowing and align this with savings that will need to be approved before borrowing is 
undertaken in order to ensure ongoing affordability and financial sustainability. 
Reprofiling of the capital programme will be considered as part of the options appraisal. 

3. Lack of clarity for funding levels 
from 2023/24 and beyond  

3 3 9 
High 

Although a two year settlement was expected, the Government has not yet made any 
announcements.  Any changes to the assumed levels will need to be modelled to 
assess their impact. 

4. Fluctuation in business rates 
2 2 4 

Medium 

The economic impact of the pandemic is yet to be fully determined which may have an 
adverse impact on the business rate base.  Monthly reviews are in place to assess any 
adverse impact on the collectible amount.  

5. Increase in bad debts as a result 
of economic circumstances 

3 2 6 
High The Council has pro-active debt management procedures in place. 

6. Increased maintenance costs of 
fixed assets 

3 2 6 
High 

The budget proposals for 2022/23 propose a significant increase in the maintenance 
budgets for both leisure centres (£150k pa) and one-off budget of £400k.  The medium 
term outlook is a continuation of high levels of maintenance that will require financing  

7. Inflation increases beyond 
budgeted levels  

4 3 12 
Very High 

Budget assumptions kept up to date with most recent projections and monthly 
sensitivity analysis is produced to monitor the impact of inflationary increases. 

8. Fee Income volatility 2 2 4 
Medium 

Early monitoring of deviations and regular reporting to both budget holders and members. 

9. Fuel and utility price volatility  4 3 12 
Very High 

Weekly monitoring of fuel charge and proactive interventions to ensure optimisation of 
fuel consumption.  Utility cost increases will continue to have an adverse impact on the 
Council finances.    

131



10. Inadequate capital resources to 
finance future desired plans 

3 3 9 
High 

Asset disposal programme approved and pipeline of asset disposal in progress in order 
to generate capital receipts.  

 
  

132



 

 
 

133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Cabinet 
 
 

Date 13 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke 
The Leader of the Council  
 
 

 

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 

December to 30 November 2023 
 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

  l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the content of this report. 

 

 

Decision Information 

Is this a Key Decision? No 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for 
publication? 

No  

What are the relevant 
corporate priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 
 

135

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information)  (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements 

for publicity in connection with Key Decisions. The Council meets these 

legislative requirements through the monthly publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make 

recommendations to Council or review the contents and take necessary action. 

These items are also listed on the Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, 

items for consideration during the preceding year have been included in the 

Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The Forward Plan also includes details of items 

scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the plan 

period. 

2.0 Appendices 

2.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

136



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 December 2022 to 30 November 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

137

A
ppendix O

ne



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Theatre Roof Replacement Works Stamford Arts Centre - Key Decision 

To seek tender approval for works to 
Stamford Arts Centre Theatre Roof. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve tender. 
 

Cabinet Member for Culture & Visitor Economy 
(Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew) 
 
Procurement Lead 
E-mail: leah.wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Budget 

To consider the Council’s Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for the 2023/24 financial 
year. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To recommend to Council the 
Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Council Tax Base 2023/24 - Budget 

To determine the Council Tax Base to form 
the basis of the 2023/24 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
Base 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

138



Summary Date Action Contact 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at first licence) - Key Decision 

To consider the vehicle age at first licence 
criteria in the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy. 
 

13 Dec 
2022 
 

That following the 12 July 
meeting of Cabinet the 
position be reviewed in three 
months, with a view to 
adopting the Government’s 
best practice. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director of Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - SPD 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Growth and Culture 
E-mail: Nicola.McCoy-
Brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the draft budget proposals for 
2023/24. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2023/24 for 
consultation. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 

139



Summary Date Action Contact 

Comprehensive Masterplan for Local Plan allocation at Low Road, Barrowby - Key Decision 

To agree the comprehensive masterplan for 
the Local Plan residential site allocation at 
Low Road, Barrowby (Local Plan Ref: LV-
H3) as per the requirements of criteria (a) of 
the Local Plan allocation policy. 
 

10 Jan 
2023 
 

To approve the 
comprehensive masterplan. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Principal Planning Officer 
E-mail: adam.murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Budget Proposals for 2023/24 - Budget 

To consider the proposed budget for 
2023/24. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 
 
Council 
1 Mar 2023 
 

To make recommendation to 
Council on the budget 
proposals for 2023/24. 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Leisure (Councillor 
Adam Stokes) 
 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

HRA Business Plan and Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

140



Summary Date Action Contact 

A3 Units within the Cinema Building - Key Decision 

To seek approval of scheme. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To approve scheme. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and 
Performance 
E-mail: Debbie.Roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Grounds Maintenance – Future Arrangements - Key Decision 

The report will provide details on the results 
of an option appraisal into future grounds 
maintenance arrangements and consider a 
recommendation from a joint meeting of 
Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
preferred option. 
 

7 Feb 2023 
 

To consider a 
recommendation from a joint 
meeting of Rural and 
Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the 
Council’s future grounds 
maintenance arrangements. 
 

Cabinet Member for Waste Services and 
Climate Change (Councillor Mark Whittington) 
 
Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure 
E-mail: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

7 Mar 2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities - Key Decision 

To seek approval of contract. 
 

23 May 
2023 
 

To approve contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

141



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Council Tax Base 2023/24
	Appendix A for Council Taxbase report

	5 Local Council Tax Support Scheme
	Appendix 1 - Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2023-24 - FINAL
	Appendix 2 - Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2023-24

	6 Theatre Roof Replacement Works Stamford Arts Centre
	7 Contract Awards in relation to social landlord responsibilities
	Appendix 1 – CBL Framework Search Criteria
	Appendix 2 - CBL Implementation Indicative Timeline
	Appendix 3 - Fusion 21 Lot 1 Decarbonisation Performance Specification

	8 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (vehicle age at first licence)
	Appendix 1 part 1
	Appendix 1 part 2

	9 Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge - Progress Review
	Appendix A Progress Report
	Appendix B Action Plan

	10 Finance Update Report: April - October 2022
	Appendix A - 2022-23 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis
	Appendix B - 2022-23 General Fund Reserves Statement
	Appendix C - 2022-23 HRA Revenue Summary
	Appendix D - HRA Reserves Statement
	Appendix E - 2022-23 Finance Risk Register

	11 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	Forward Plan 1 December


